AGREEMENT

Between The

LOS ANGELES COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT

And The

LOS ANGELES/ORANGE COUNTIES BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL

July 1, 20112014 – June 30, 20142017

TABLE OF CONTENTS PAGE

Preamble	4
ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION	4
ARTICLE 2 AGREEMENT	4
ARTICLE 3 Non-Discrimination and Commitment to Diversity	4
ARTICLE 4 Management Rights	5
ARTICLE 5 RENEGOTIATION	6
ARTICLE 6 SEVERABILITY	6
ARTICLE 7 Waiver	6
ARTICLE 8 COUNCIL RIGHTS.	7
ARTICLE 9 Organizational Security	8
ARTICLE 10 Hours and Overtime	9
ARTICLE 11 HOLIDAYS	12
ARTICLE 12 VACATION	14
ARTICLE 13 Leaves and Absences.	16
A. GENERAL PROVISIONS. B. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE C. CASUAL ABSENCES. D. CHILD CARE LEAVE E. COURT SUBPOENA ABSENCE F. ILLNESS LEAVE G. INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT LEAVE H. JURY DUTY LEAVE I. MATERNITY LEAVE J. MILITARY LEAVE K. PEACE CORPS. RED CROSS, OR MERCHANT MARINE LEAVE L. PERSONAL BUSINESS LEAVE M. PERSONAL NECESSITY LEAVE N. RETRAINING AND STUDY LEAVE OF ABSENCE O. WORK-RELATED ABSENCES P. ASSAULT AND BATTERY LEAVE Q. FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE (MANDATORY)	16 19 20 20 21 24 28 29 30 33 33 33 35 39 39
LE 14 Transfers. 41	
ARTICLE 15 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION PROCEDURES	42
ARTICLE 16 HEALTH AND WELFARE	44
ARTICLE 17 Wages and Salaries	61
ARTICLE 18 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE.	66
ARTICLE 19 Consultation for Job Specifications	70

ARTICLE 20 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT			
ARTICLE 21 SAFETY	71		
ARTICLE 22 Personnel Files	72		
ARTICLE 23 Tools	73		
ARTICLE 24 Layoff and Furlough	73		
ARTICLE 25 Unit Work	74		
ARTICLE 26 WORK ENVIRONMENT	75		
EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT	81		
APPENDICES			
APPENDIX A CRAFTS UNIT	82		
APPENDIX B PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM	83		
APPENDIX C SUMMARY OF DUE PROCESS	85		
APPENDIX D SALARY RATES AS OF JULY 2011	86		
APPENDIX E DOMESTIC PARTNER POLICY FOR HEALTH INSURANCE	87		
APPENDIX F GRIEVANCE FORM	90		
APPENDIX G PROCESS FOR DETERMING SALARY AUGMENTATION	91		
APPENDIX H MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDING	92		
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) NO. 1			
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) NO. 2. <u>Use of Compensatory Time Off</u>	<u>94.</u>		
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) NO. 3. FORMATION OF A JOINT LABOR/MANAGEMENT TASK FORCE TO DISCUSS APPRENTICESHIP PROGRAMS FOR	91 <u>95</u>		

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5"

BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES EMPLOYEES OF THE LACCD

PREAMBLE

The Los Angeles Community College District Board of Trustees, together with its administrative staff and representatives (hereafter referred to as the "District") and the Los Angeles /Orange Counties Building & Construction Trades Council, AFL-CIO, together with its officers and representatives (hereafter referred to as the "Council"), hereby enter into this Agreement in a spirit of mutual commitment to enhance welfare, excellence, and prestige of the Los Angeles Community College District and join in dedication to the students and community we are pledged to serve.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

The District recognizes that the Council was certified by the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) as the exclusive representative of regular full-time and part-time classified employees of the District who are assigned to classifications in Unit III, Crafts, as enumerated and listed in Appendix A. Appendix A titles may be modified in accordance with rules and regulations of PERB. Any such approved modification automatically becomes a part of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 AGREEMENT

- A. The Articles and Provisions contained herein constitute a bilateral and binding agreement by and between the District and the Council.
- B. This Agreement is entered into pursuant to Chapter 10.7, Sections 3540-3549 of the Government Code.
- C. The provisions of this Agreement shall be effective on the date it is approved and executed by the parties except as specifically provided otherwise in this Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect until June 30, 20142017.

ARTICLE 3 NONDISCRIMINATION AND COMMITMENT TO DIVERSITY

A. Nondiscrimination

The District and the Council agree not to discriminate against any employee covered by this Agreement because of his/her political activities, political beliefs, District approved union activities, or union membership and because of race, color, creed, national origin, religion, marital status, veterans status, or sexual orientation, and to the extent prohibited by law no employee shall be discriminated against because of age, sex, or physical handicap.

B. Diversity Policy

- 1. The District and the Council shall strive to maintain a Crafts Unit workforce that is diverse and reflective of the populations served by the District.
- Any and all appeals concerning or relating to this Article shall only be filed with the
 District's Office of Diversity Programs and Services, in accordance with the appeal
 procedure found in the District's Diversity Program, and shall not be subject to the
 grievance and arbitration provisions of Article 18

ARTICLE 4 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- A. It is understood and agreed that the Board of Trustees of the Los Angeles Community College District has all the customary and usual rights, powers, functions, and authority of management as indicated in California Government Code Sections 3540-3549.3. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the management, direction, supervision, and control of the Los Angeles Community College District operations, working force and facilities are exclusively vested in the Board of Trustees. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Council recognizes that, subject to the express provisions of this Agreement, the right to select, direct, and control the District business operations and working force; to hire, assign, suspend, transfer, lay off, discipline or discharge employees; to determine the means and methods by which work is to be performed; to determine job classifications and standards of performance; to introduce or discontinue any program or facilities, including the right to contract out work performed by employees covered by this Agreement in accordance with applicable law; and the right to require employees to observe Board Rules and Regulations not inconsistent with this Agreement, are all vested exclusively in the Board of Trustees of the Los Angeles Community College District.
- B. It is further understood and agreed that all rights heretofore exercised by, or inherent in the Board of Trustees, not expressly contracted away by the terms of this Agreement, are retained solely by the Board of Trustees; and that should the Board of Trustees (employer) fail to exercise any of said rights or exercise them in a particular manner, it shall not be deemed to have waived such rights or be precluded thereafter from exercising them in some way or manner.
- C. The Board of Trustees may legally delegate or assign any District rights or responsibilities to management or to such other official persons, divisions, departments, and committees as it shall determine appropriate.

ARTICLE 5 RENEGOTIATION

In the event either party hereto desires to negotiate a successor Agreement, such party shall serve upon the other, not before six (6) months prior to the expiration date of the Agreement, a written request to commence negotiations as well as an initial written proposal for such successor Agreement. Upon receipt of such written notice and proposal(s), negotiations shall commence not later than fifteen (15) working days after all conditions of Government Code Section 3547 are met. The District shall implement the request for renegotiations in accordance with its Collective Bargaining Initial Proposal Procedure.

ARTICLE 6 SEVERABILITY

- A. If any provision of this Agreement should be held invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any provision should be restrained by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction pending a final determination as to its validity, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such Article or Section as to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or as to which compliance with or enforcement of has been restrained, shall not be affected thereby.
- B. This Agreement may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from or modified only through the voluntary and mutual consent of the parties in a written and signed amendment to this Agreement. This Article shall not be subject to the grievance provisions of Article 18.

ARTICLE 7 WAIVER

- A. The parties agree that during the negotiations which culminated in this Agreement each party enjoyed and exercised without restraint, coercion, intimidation, or other limitation, the right and opportunity to make demands and proposals or counterproposals with respect to any matter not reserved by policy or law from compromise through bargaining and that the understandings and agreements arrived at after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth herein.
- B. The parties agree, therefore, that the other shall not be obligated to negotiate or bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter, whether referred to herein or not, even though such subject or matter may not have been in the knowledge and contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time that they negotiated or signed this Agreement, except those matters defined by law to be within the scope of bargaining.

ARTICLE 8 COUNCIL RIGHTS

A. The Council shall have the right of access at reasonable times to areas in which employees work, the right to use institutional bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other means of

communication, subject to reasonable regulation, and the right to use institutional facilities provided that such use or access shall not interfere with nor interrupt normal District or campus operations nor shall such use cause an additional or an increased maintenance cost to the District. In cases of use or access that will result in additional costs to the District, arrangements shall be made prior to use for reimbursement to the District by the Council.

- B. The Council shall be entitled to a representative at all public Board of Trustees meeting and shall be allowed to speak on any agenda item in accordance with existing Board Rules.
- C. The District shall furnish to the Council, upon written request, all available information that is available to the public concerning items affecting the Unit subject to a reasonable charge.
- D. A reasonable number of shop stewards not to exceed one (1) shop steward per shift per location shall be designated by the Council in writing; such list shall be provided to Employer/Employee Relations on or before July 1 of each year. Additions to or deletions from the list shall be reported in writing to Employer/Employee Relations as they occur. Said shop steward shall be granted reasonable released time for the purpose of representing employees in grievance resolutions, and to attend committees appointed to by the Council.
- E. In order to facilitate the implementation of this Article, the District agrees to provide the Council with a listing of Crafts Unit employees' names, addresses, telephone numbers, and classification titles at least once each month. Such names and addresses received by the Council through this provision shall only be used for the implementation of this Article and for no other purpose.
- F. The Council shall be allowed one (1) representative on each campus shared governance committee that deals with issues directly and specifically relevant to the Crafts Unit, one (1) representative on the District Budget Committee (DBC) and one (1) representative on the Joint Labor Management Benefits Committee. Crafts Unit committee members shall be appointed by the Crafts Unit.
- G. Subsequent to mutual consent on the format, <u>50</u> copies of this Agreement shall be printed at shared expense and a copy distributed to each Unit member now employed provided to the Council for distribution to the Crafts unions. District shall also provide to the Council an electronic version of the Agreement. The District shall distribute a copy to all new employees.
- H. Stewards shall be permitted mobility to other campuses for purpose of representing a steward on another campus who has requested such representation.
- I. At the close of each pay period, the District shall provide the Council with a list of all newly employed and newly terminated Unit members. Addresses, telephone numbers and location shall be provided in electronic form to the Council by the District as soon as possible

ARTICLE 9 ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY

- A. The District shall deduct and make appropriate remittance to the Council all dues and/or service fees as regulated by the dues structure of the Council, within thirty (30) days of the deduction, in accordance with the following:
 - The District shall deduct union dues for those unit members who have the appropriate union dues deduction card on file with the Disbursements Branch of the Business Services Division.
 - 2. The District shall deduct agency fee amounts, by classification, designated by the Council, for all members of the Unit who do not have an appropriate dues deduction authorization on file with the Disbursement Branch of the Business Services Division.
 - 3. Unit members who object, on religious grounds, to paying union dues or agency fees shall apply to the Council for exemption to Section A.1. or A.2. above. If the exemption is agreed upon by the Council, the District shall deduct the equivalent of union dues and pay that sum to one of the non-profit charitable organizations approved by the District for payroll deductions.
 - 4. Management and confidential employees with additional assignments covered by this Agreement shall not be required to pay union dues or agency fees.
 - 5. The District shall not be liable to the Council by reason of the requirements of this Article for the remittance or payment of any sum other than that constituting actual deductions made from the wages earned by the employee. The Council agrees it shall indemnify and save the District harmless from any liability arising from any and all claims, demands, suits, or other actions arising from compliance with this Article, or, in reliance of any list, notice certification or authorization furnished under this Article. The Council, in addition, agrees it should refund to the District any sums paid to it in error.
- B. The District shall withhold agency shop fees for those employees identified in accordance with Section A.2.above effective the first pay period beginning their seventh month of employment with the District.

ARTICLE 10 HOURS AND OVERTIME

A. Workweek and Workday

1. The normal workweek shall consist of not more than five (5) days and not more than forty (40) hours per week, Sunday through Saturday. The regular workday shall consist of not more than eight (8) hours per day. Nothing in this Article shall be deemed to

restrict the extension of the regular workday or workweek on an overtime basis when such is necessary to carry on the business of the District.

- 2. Nothing in this Article shall be deemed to bar the District from establishing a workday of less than eight (8) hours or a workweek of less than forty (40) hours, or preclude the District from establishing a ten (10) hour per day, forty (40) hour per week schedule for any or all employees in accordance with Education Code section 88031. If a ten (10) hour per day, forty (40) hour per week schedule is established for employees, the overtime rule, Article 10, Section B., shall be applicable in excess of ten (10) hours in one day rather than eight (8) hours as indicated. Employees assigned to work a four (4) day, forty (40) hour per week schedule shall revert to a five (5) day, forty (40) hour per week schedule during any week in which a holiday occurs. The District and the Council may consult on additional alternative means of scheduling employees' workweeks who are assigned to four/forty (4/40) work schedules or nine/eighty (9/80) work schedules.
- 3. Employees' daily hours of work and shifts shall be established at the discretion of the District to meet the operational needs of the District. An employee's shift may not be changed permanently unless he/she is given twenty (20) working days written notice. A permanent shift change is defined as any shift change which will last in excess of twenty (20) working days. Employees' regular work schedules must include at least two (2) consecutive days off. An employee who is assigned on a temporary shift shall receive the highest of either his regular shift differential or the temporary shift differential.
- 4. Nothing contained in this Article shall be construed as a guarantee by the District of a certain number of paid hours per day or days per week.
- 5. For the purpose of computing hours worked, time during which an employee is excused from work because of holiday, vacation, or paid leaves or paid absences, shall be considered as time worked by the employee.

[See Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) No. 1 in Appendix H.]

B. Overtime

- 1. Overtime shall be compensated as either cash payment or compensatory time off, at a rate equal to time and one-half (1 ½) the regular rate of pay of the employee who worked overtime. If compensatory time off is granted in lieu of cash payment, such compensatory time off shall be taken by the employee before the end of the fiscal year in which the overtime was worked. (See MOU No. 2 in Appendix H.) The compensatory time off shall be taken at a time convenient to the employee provided that it is scheduled in advance, and as determined by his/her supervisor, would not unduly interfere with the operation of the unit. If the employee and his supervisor cannot agree on scheduled time off for compensatory time, the employee shall be required to take the time off within the next pay period.
- 2. Employees assigned a workday of seven (7) hours or more and a workweek of thirty-five (35) hours or more shall receive compensation at a rate equal to one and one-half (1 ½) times the regular rate of pay, or compensatory time off, for work authorized and

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.25"

performed in excess of eight (8) hours in one day and in excess of forty (40) hours in any workweek.

- 3. Employees assigned an average workday of four (4) hours or more but less than seven (7) hours and a workweek of twenty (20) hours or more but less than thirty-five (35) hours shall be compensated at a rate equal to one and one-half (1 ½) times the regular rate of pay, or shall be provided compensatory time off, for any work authorized and required to be performed on the sixth (6th) and seventh (7th) days following the commencement of the regular workweek, or for hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in one day or hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a calendar week.
- 4. Employees assigned an average workday of less than four (4) hours shall be compensated at a rate equal to one and one-half (1½) times the regular rate of pay, or shall be provided compensatory time off, for any work authorized and required on the seventh (7th) day following the commencement of the regular workweek, or for hours in excess of eight (8) hours in one day or hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a calendar week.
- 5. When an employee is authorized and required to work on any day recognized as a holiday under this Agreement, he/she shall be compensated, in addition to regular pay received for the holiday, at the rate of one and one-half (1 ½) times the regular rate of pay for actual hours worked.
- 6. To the extent practicable, the District shall use reasonable efforts to distribute overtime work equitably among the qualified employees of an office, operational unit or work group with consideration given to District need and employee availability in making the distribution. Upon reasonable notice, an employee shall be required to work overtime as needed.
- 7. Assignments to the following classes by reason of their variable daily hours are excluded from the time and one-half provisions of this Article, for hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours a day, but are not excluded from overtime compensation for hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week: Performing Arts Technician, Costume Maker.
- 8. The District and the Council will comply, as appropriate, with the Fair Labor Standards Act.

C. Call Back

- 1. Full-time employees who are called back to work, after leaving the work site, outside their regular work hours, shall be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the appropriate overtime rate.
- 2. In the event an employee is assigned to perform work outside his or her regular hours of employment, on an emergency or non-scheduled basis as distinguished from a scheduled overtime basis, the performance of which involves the operation of his automobile from

his or her home, he or she shall be entitled to receive reimbursement for total mileage traveled in connection with such assignment.

D. Lunch Breaks and Rest Periods

1. Lunch Breaks

All employees covered by the Agreement who work four (4) hours a day or more shall be provided an uninterrupted daily unpaid thirty (30) minute lunch break to be scheduled at approximately the halfway point on their work schedule. The unpaid lunch break may be extended for a period of not longer than one (1) hour as determined by the District. Unless the employee is relieved of all duty during the specified lunch break, such break shall be considered an "on duty" meal period and counted as time worked. An "on duty" meal period shall be permitted only when the nature of the work prevents an employee from being relieved of all duty.

2. Rest Periods

All employees who work six (6) hours or more but less than seven (7) hours a day, shall be granted a fifteen (15) minute rest period. All employees who work seven (7) hours or more a day shall be granted two (2) daily fifteen (15) minute rest periods. Such rest periods shall be taken in accordance with a posted schedule but not during the first or last hour of the assignment. The rest periods shall not be used to lengthen the lunch breaks or to shorten the workday.

ARTICLE 11 HOLIDAYS

A. An employee in a regular assignment or in an assignment in lieu of his/her regular assignment shall receive holiday pay for those holidays listed below and for other holidays declared by the Board of Trustees, the Governor of California, or the President of the United States which come within the employee's assignment period, subject to the conditions listed in 11.A.1. through 11.A.3.

January 1 New Year's Day

January 15 Martin Luther King's Day

Lincoln Day*

Third Monday in February Washington Day
March 31 Cesar Chavez Day
Last Monday in May Memorial Day

July 4 Independence Day

First Monday in September Labor Day
September 9 Admission Day*
November 11 Veterans Day*
That Thursday in November Thanksgiving Day

Proclaimed by the President

Day following Thanksgiving
December 24
December 25
December 31
Day after Thanksgiving
Christmas Eve Day
Christmas Day
New Year's Eve Day

- The employee must have been in paid status for a portion of the working day immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday, provided that an employee on a military leave of absence entitled to compensation under Article 13.J. shall only receive pay for the portion of the holiday period needed to meet the total time for which compensation is required by law.
- 2. An employee whose regular work schedule is less than five (5) days per week and forty (40) hours per week shall not be entitled to a holiday in place of a holiday observed on the employee's regularly scheduled day off.

^{*}Lincoln Day shall be observed on the Friday immediately preceding Washington Day, unless an action of the Board of Trustees provides for a different day as provided by Education Code section 79020 (f), (g) and (j).

^{*}Admission Day shall be observed on the Tuesday after Labor Day or another date so specifically declared by the Board of Trustees.

^{*}Veterans Day shall be observed on November 11, unless an action of the Board of Trustees provides for a different day as provided by Education Code section 79020 (f), (g) and (i).

- 3. An employee in paid status during any portion of the working day of his/her normal assignment immediately preceding or succeeding the school holiday of December 24 and December 31 shall receive pay for the four (4) holidays (Christmas Eve Day, Christmas Day, New Years Eve Day and New Years Day).
- B. When a holiday falls on the first day of an employee's weekend (usually Saturday), the holiday shall be observed on the preceding working day (usually Friday).
- C. When a holiday falls on the second day of an employee's weekend (usually Sunday), the holiday shall be observed on the following working day (usually Monday).
- D. The afternoon of the Friday of Spring break, as determined by the academic calendar, shall be considered a holiday with the following provisions:
 - 1. Four (4) hours of holiday time shall be granted to all full-time employees of the Crafts Unit. Employees assigned less than full-time shall be granted holiday hours on a pro rata basis in the proportion that their assignment bears to a full-time assignment.
 - 2. Employees whose regularly scheduled day off is Friday shall receive the number of hours to which they are eligible on the preceding Thursday.
 - 3. Employees whose regular work schedule is less than five (5) days per week and forty (40) reported hours per week shall be entitled to holiday pay if the employee was in paid status a portion of the working day immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday.
 - 4. Full-time employees who are on vacation, or who have reported in as being ill on that Friday (or the day on which the substitute holiday is taken), shall receive four (4) hours of vacation credit for that day; employees assigned for less than full-time who are on vacation or are ill on that day shall receive a proportional number of hours, in accordance with D.1.above.
 - 5. Employees who are required to work on the Friday of Spring break afternoon shall receive four (4) hours (or a proportional number of hours for employees assigned less than full-time) as a floating holiday, to be taken at the convenience of the employee with the concurrence of the supervisor, prior to the close of the academic year in which it was granted.

ARTICLE 12 VACATION

A. Accrual of vacation shall be determined based on the factors and in the manner set forth in the following table:

Creditable Years of Paid Service	Vacation Accrual Factor Based on 40 Hour Workweek Excluding Overtime	Days of Vacation Based on a 12- Month Assignment
Less than 1 year	.03846	10
1 year but less than 2 years	.04231	11
2 years but less than 3 years	.04615	12
3 years but less than 4 years	.05000	13
4 years but less than 9 years	.05770	15
9 years but less than 10 years	.06155	16
10 years but less than 11 year	s .06539	17
11 years but less than 12 year	s .06923	18
12 years but less than 13 year	s .07308	19
13 years but less than 20 year	s .07693	20
20 years or more	.09232	24

- B. For purposes of this Article, a year is defined as the twelve-month period of time between the start and end of each fiscal year (July 1 to June 30).
- C. In order to be credited with a year of service for the purpose of this Article, an employee must have been in regular status during the appropriate year, as defined above, for at least one hundred thirty (130) days in paid status or on leave of absence prior to layoff or for industrial accident, industrial illness, or military service.
- D. Credits for years of service shall be applied, and vacation accrual rates shall be changed as required by this Article, effective on the first day of the employee's anniversary date of each year when it becomes feasible to implement.
- E. An employee serving an initial probationary period shall not be eligible to take vacation until the first day of the pay period following completion of the number of hours that correspond to one hundred thirty (130) days of paid service in regular assignments. No vacation shall be taken until earned. No payment for vacation accumulation shall be made to employees who separate prior to completion of one hundred thirty (130) days of paid service.
- F. For purposes of this Article, one hundred thirty (130) days shall be defined as one hundred thirty (130) times the average number of regularly assigned hours per day for the employee.
- G. No vacation or part thereof shall be taken at a lesser rate than one (1) hour at a time.

- H. Vacation shall be taken at a time convenient to the employee provided that it is scheduled in advance, and, as determined by his/her supervisor, it would not unduly interfere with the operation of the unit or be contrary to established vacation policies or procedures of the unit. However, nothing in this Article shall be construed to prohibit the District from requiring employees to take vacation in lieu of cash payment as provided in Section 12.I and 12.J.
- 1. Employees who, on July 25, 1981, had four hundred (400) hours or less of unused vacation credit accumulated, and all employees hired thereafter, shall be permitted to accumulate vacation credit up to four hundred (400) hours.
 - Employees who, on July 25, 1981, had more than four hundred (400) hours of unused vacation credit shall be allowed to retain that individual number of hours as a maximum accumulation limit. Crafts Unit employees shall not earn any additional vacation in any pay period in which a Crafts Unit employee's vacation balance equals or exceeds four hundred (400) hours, or the individual maximum accumulation amount for those who had vacation balances in excess of four hundred (400) hours as of July 25, 1981.
- J. The amount of vacation actually earned, and only that amount, shall be available, regardless of changes in status. The rate at which vacation allowances are paid shall be at the employee's current rate. No employee shall be allowed to take vacation while temporarily serving as a substitute, relief, or provisional unless he/she has served for the equivalent of more than ninety (90) consecutive working days, or receives specific approval from the appropriate administrator.
 - Vacation earned for perfect attendance shall continue to accrue regardless of an employee's vacation balance; however such accrual shall count toward the 400-hour limit.
- K. On voluntary reduction in status, layoff, or separation from the classified service, the money value of vacation balances shall be paid as a lump sum to permanent employees. In cases where separation is not at the end of a pay period, vacation credit shall be computed through the last day in paid status.
- L. Lump sum vacation payments shall be made on the basis of the hourly equivalent rate for the employee's last regular assignment.
- M. When a regular employee (whose regular assignment is on other than a twelve [12] month assignment basis code) is paid during the summer as a relief, substitute, or provisional employee, the employee shall earn vacation in accordance with the schedule in Section 12.A. of this Article, whichever is applicable to the position in which he/she serves during the summer.
- N. A regular employee who serves in his/her regular assignment and also in a summer substitute, relief, or provisional assignment during the same pay period shall not earn more vacation for that pay period than if he/she has served one hundred sixty (160) hours in his/her regular assignment.
- O. A permanent employee may, upon approval of the appropriate administrative authority, be permitted to interrupt or terminate vacation leave in order to begin illness leave provided

such leave is necessary for not less than two (2) days and the employee indicates at the earliest practical opportunity:

- 1. The basis of the request for change in leave status and provides appropriate supporting documents including a certification of illness from a licensed physician or other recognized practitioner in case of illness.
- 2. The probable duration of the requested leave.
- P. The responsible administrator shall take such steps, as he/she deems necessary, to satisfy him/her that the paid illness leave was in accordance with Section F. of Article 13.
- Q. A permanent classified employee may be, upon approval of the appropriate administrative authority, permitted to interrupt or terminate vacation leave in order to begin Bereavement Leave in accordance with Bereavement Leave, Section B. of Article 13. Bereavement Leave shall not be extended by use of Personal Necessity Leave.

ARTICLE 13 LEAVES AND ABSENCES

A. General Provisions

1. Leave and Absence Defined

- a. Probationary and permanent employees shall be eligible for certain paid and unpaid leaves. A leave is an authorized absence from active service granted to probationary or permanent employees, for a specified purpose and period of time, with the right to return to active service, unless the employee's service would otherwise have been terminated. Leaves are either "permissive" or "mandatory". As to permissive leaves, the term "may" is used and the District retains discretion as to whether they are to be granted, and as to the starting and ending days of the leave. As to mandatory leaves, the term "shall" is used and the District has no discretion as to whether the leave is to be granted to a qualified employee.
- b. In this Article, "working days" are considered as beginning on the first day for which leave is claimed at the time the employee usually reports for work through the last day for which leave is claimed until the time the employee usually leaves the job.
- All leaves which are charged against accrued illness leave shall be charged on an hour-for-hour basis.

2. Rights Upon Return

An employee returning from a leave of ninety (90) days or less will be returned to the location from which the leave was taken, except that the employee may be transferred, if such transfer would have been made if the employee had been on duty, or if the employee's former position in the class no longer exists, in which case the employee may exercise bumping rights in the class, provided that he/she does not have the least seniority in that class.

3. Restrictions

An unpaid leave or absence may not be converted to a paid leave or absence, except in the case of pregnancy disability as provided in Section I., Maternity Leave, of this Article. A continuous period of absence or leave shall not exceed one year without a return to active duty, except as provided in Section D., Child Care Leave, Section F., Illness Leave, Section G., Industrial Accident Leave, and Section J., Military Leave, of this Article.

4. Applications

Applications for permissive leaves of absence must be submitted on or before the dates established by this Article or if not, at least ten (10) working days prior to commencement of the leave. Exceptions may be made at the sole discretion of the District. Applications for leaves of absence for a period of more than twenty (20) consecutive working days shall be made on a prescribed District form and shall indicate the beginning and ending dates of the requested leave and the reasons for the request.

5. Notification Requirements

- a. Unless otherwise provided in this Article, an employee must make every reasonable effort to contact and notify the appropriate supervisor, administrator or designee the working day prior to the beginning of an absence, but notification shall not be later than the first half (1/2) hour of the first day of absence except in unusual circumstances. Notwithstanding other provisions of this Article, an employee intending to be absent in excess of five (5) working days must also submit a written request covering the period of absence to the appropriate supervisor no later than the third (3 rd) day of absence.
- b. All employees returning to service must notify the appropriate supervisor, administrator or designee at least one (1) working day prior to the day of anticipated return. If such notice is not given and both the employee and a substitute report for duty, only the substitute is entitled to work and to be paid.
- c. The District will endeavor to notify unit members once each pay period of their current and accrued leaves totals, including vacation, illness leave and compensatory time.

6. Cancellation or Early Return from Leave

A request by an employee for cancellation of or early return from a leave once commenced or for cancellation of a request for a leave shall be granted unless an employee other than a substitute has been assigned. Exceptions may be made at the sole discretion of the District.

7. Expiration of Leave

Except as otherwise provided in this Article, twenty (20) days before the expiration of a leave for ninety (90) days or more, or five (5) days before expiration of a leave for twenty (20) days but less than ninety (90) days, the employee should make every effort to notify the Personnel Office of his/her intention to return, or request an extension of leave, if eligible. Unless such notice is given, failure to return to work upon expiration of the leave may be considered resignation from service.

8. Revoking Leaves

A leave of absence may be revoked by the District when the good of the service may require it or when evidence shows that the absent employee is engaged in activities for which leave would not have been granted in the original instance.

9. Health Examinations

- a. If an employee is absent from duty because of illness or injury for more than five (5) consecutive days, the employee must, before returning to duty, submit a written medical clearance and verification of illness or injury from his/her own attending physician. Said verification and clearance must be submitted to his/her immediate supervisor immediately upon return to service. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to limit management from requiring employees to obtain such medical clearance or medical verification for absences of less than five (5) days, if the District deems necessary, provided that management notify the employee of such a requirement in advance or at the beginning of the leave.
- b. An employee shall be required to report for health examination to the District's designated employee health service provider, when in the judgment of his/her supervisor, the apparent health condition of the employee warrants it. If the report of the physician shows that an employee in service or returning to service is not medically qualified to perform his/her duties, the employee may be required to take sufficient leave to rehabilitate himself/herself. Written notice of non-approval and the reason therefore shall be provided to the employee together with information concerning the employee's right to appeal to the Office of Employer- Employee Relations for an Administrative Review.

10. Perfect Attendance

a. __For each pay period an employee has perfect attendance (no tardiness and no absence for any reason other than holidays and vacations scheduled in accordance with this Agreement), his/her vacation balance shall be credited with three-tenths (0.30) days of vacation, to an annual maximum of four (4) additional days.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Hanging: 0.5", No bullets or numbering

2. <u>b.</u> Other allowable absences include compensatory time off, holidays as specified in Article 11, jury duty as specified in Article 13H, "M-time" (miscellaneous time off) and unpaid days off as required to satisfy the requirements of the D- or G-basis.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Hanging: 0.25", No bullets or numbering

B. Bereavement Leave

- 1. Bereavement Leave shall be granted to any employee in the classified service not to exceed three (3) working days, or five (5) working days if more than 250 miles of travel, one-way, is required, on account of the death of any member of his/her immediate family. Member of the immediate family means the mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or a grandchild of the employee or the employee's spouse and the spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, or sister of the employee, or any other relative living in the immediate household of the employee.
- Bereavement Leave not exceeding three (3) working days may be granted in case of death of:
 - a. Persons other than those named in Paragraph 13.B.1.above who are closely related by blood or marriage.
 - b. A close friend for whose funeral arrangements an employee has responsibility.
 - c. A fiancée, lifelong friend, roommate, or friend living in the same domicile.
- 3. Bereavement Leave allowed under the provisions of this Paragraph requires approval by the appropriate administrator, who shall determine the amount of leave of absence with pay to be granted.
- 4. Bereavement Leave must commence and end within ten (10) calendar days after the demise or after the date the employee is notified of the date of the funeral.
- A permanent employee may interrupt or terminate a vacation period in order to take Bereavement Leave.
- 6. The employee shall, to the extent practicable, give his immediate supervisor prior notice of his intent to take Bereavement Leave. In all cases in which the granting of the leave is permissive, prior notification shall be required in order to receive compensation.
- 7. The employee shall, upon request, furnish evidence acceptable to his/her immediate supervisor that leave taken in accordance with provisions of this rule was in connection with bereavement. The supervisor may take steps necessary to verify the validity of the evidence.

C. Casual Absences

- 1. College Presidents or Division Heads or their designated representatives may grant to employees permission to be absent without loss of salary for parts of a day not exceeding one-half (1/2) when good reason for such absence exists provided that this power shall not be construed to mean a right to reduce the established number of working hours per month of the employee; and provided further that in no case shall the work of the department be materially retarded by the granting of such absence.
- 2. Subject to the conditions of the above Paragraph, College Presidents or Division Heads or their designated representatives may grant employees permission to be absent without loss of salary for not more than one (1) full day for the purpose of obtaining a comprehensive annual physical examination not more than once per year provided that the verification of such examination is submitted to the Human Resources Division on a designated form provided by that Division.
- 3. None of the privileges referred to above shall apply to absence in excess of two (2) hours for which salary benefits are provided in other leaves. It is not the intention of the District that casual absence be denied on a blanket basis by a unit supervisor.

D. Child Care Leave

- 1. An unpaid leave may be granted to a permanent employee to care for such employee's own (including adopted) child provided that no such leave or extension thereof shall be approved for a period beyond the third (3rd) birthday of the child, and provided further, that such leaves or extensions thereof shall be for the purpose of care of own child. Applications for Child Care Leave must be submitted to the worksite Personnel Office at least ten (10) working days prior to commencement of such leave.
- 2. If an employee is eligible, the medical benefits described in Section Q, Family and Medical Leave, shall be applied concurrently.
- 3. In cases of emergency the ten (10) day notice requirement may be waived.

E. Court Subpoena Absence

- 1. If a regular employee, other than a litigant in the case, is necessarily absent because of his/her appearance before a grand jury; or, in a criminal case, before a court within the State; or, in a civil case, before a court within the county in which the employee resides, or outside such county if within one hundred fifty (150) miles of his/her place of residence, in response to a subpoena fully served, no deduction will be made from the employee's salary on account of such absence; provided, that each date of necessary attendance in court or before a grand jury, other than the date specified in the subpoena, shall be certified by the clerk or other authorized officer of such court or grand jury; and provided, further, that in any case in which a witness fee is payable, such fee shall be collected by the employee and remitted to the Business Services Division.
- 2. A regular employee receiving a subpoena shall notify his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible after the receipt of said subpoena. Subject to the possibility of making reasonable travel arrangements, the employee shall make himself/herself available to the

District for work during the balance of his/her normal working day or week when his/her presence is not required in court, or before a grand jury. If the employee's regular assignment is to other than the day shift, the employee may be reassigned to the day shift. If he/she is assigned to the day shift, the employee shall be available for work when not required to be in court.

3. Salary for time spent in answering a federal subpoena outside the State of California is subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees.

F. Illness Leave

- Illness is defined as any pronounced deviation from a normal healthy state which makes
 it disadvantageous to the District and/or detrimental to the employee for him/her to be at
 work. This definition shall include emergency medical, dental, optical, and prosthetic
 work.
- 2. A new employee must render service before being entitled to illness leave.
- 3. An employee who is absent from duty on account of illness, injury, or quarantine shall be allowed illness leave pay under the following conditions:
 - a. Each employee who receives an initial regular appointment will be credited as of the date of his/her appointment with twelve (12) working days of full-time illness leave and eighty-eight (88) days of half (½) pay illness leave for employees assigned to a twelve (12) month position and ten (10) working days of full-pay illness leave and ninety (90) days of half-pay illness leave for all employees assigned to other than a twelve (12) month position.
 - (1) An employee serving an initial probationary period shall not be eligible to be paid for more than five (5) days of full-pay illness leave until the first day of the pay period after completion of one hundred thirty (130) days of paid service in regular assignments. Half (½) pay illness leave shall not be paid during this time.
 - (2) Thereafter, he/she will be credited annually with twelve (12) working days of full-pay illness leave and up to eighty-eight (88) working days of half (½) pay illness leave if he/she is assigned to a twelve (12) month position, or ten (10) working days of full-pay illness leave and up to ninety (90) working days of half (½) pay illness leave if he/she is assigned to other than a twelve (12) month position, as of the first (1st) date of the pay period in which July 1 falls.
 - (3) There shall be no limit to the year-to-year accumulation of unused full-pay illness leave privileges.
 - b. No half (½) pay illness leave shall be allowed until after all full-pay illness leave is exhausted.
 - c. The number of working days of half (½) pay illness leave to be credited is the difference between accumulated working days of full-pay illness leave and one hundred (100) days, provided that the accumulated working days of full-pay illness leave are less than one hundred (100) days.

- d. A day of paid illness leave for an employee assigned to a position for less than eight (8) hours a day or forty (40) hours a week shall consist of the number of hours in his/her basic daily assignment as determined by the District. Authorization to work additional hours beyond the basic daily assignment shall not increase illness leave benefits.
- e. No paid illness leave shall be allowed during layoff or leave of absence, except illness leave of absence.
- f. Employees who are absent because of illness or injury resulting from industrial accidents or industrial illness qualifying under provisions of Workers' Compensation shall be allowed illness leave as provided in Section G., Industrial Accident Leave. Employees who have not completed their initial probationary period and are absent because of industrial accident shall receive whatever paid illness benefits as may be provided by other sections of this Article, within the limitations set forth in Section G., Industrial Accident Leave.
- g. Salary differentials shall be included in computing illness pay for employees who receive such salary differentials.
- h. When a regular employee (whose regular assignment is on other than a twelve [12] month assignment basis code) is assigned during the summer as a relief, substitute, or provisional employee, the employee shall be allowed to take illness leave with pay during such summer assignment(s) in accordance with the limitations set forth in the previous paragraphs of this Section.
 - Nothing in this paragraph shall be interpreted to permit such employees to receive illness leave in excess of the limit established in the preceding paragraphs of this Section.
- 4. An employee who is absent on account of illness or injury shall sign, on the prescribed form, a statement that such absence was due to illness or injury. Compensation for illness leave shall be paid only when the employee's supervisor certifies on the prescribed form that such absence was on account of illness or injury. Such official may take steps necessary to verify the validity of the illness leave. Upon obtaining such verification, he/she shall complete the required certification.
 - a. If the employee is absent because of illness or injury for more than five (5) consecutive days, the employee must submit a certificate from a licensed physician or other recognized practitioner certifying such absence to have been on account of illness or injury. Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to limit management from requiring such certification for less than five (5) days, when it appears to management that the employee is attempting to abuse the illness leave privilege.
 - b. In any case, when an employee is incapacitated and unable to sign the prescribed form, the Human Resources Division may approve an illness leave without the employee's signature.

- 5. In order to receive compensation while absent on illness leave, the employee must notify his/her immediate supervisor of his/her absence within the first half-hour (½) of each day's absence, if possible. Further, he/she must submit the appropriate illness leave form(s) and physician's certification, if required, upon return to service.
 - When an employee intends to be or is absent because of illness or injury for more than twenty (20) consecutive days, a formal Leave of Absence, subject to the approval of the Human Resources Division, is required. Application for such leave of absence shall be sent by an employee's college or division to an employee who has been absent because of illness or injury for ten (10) consecutive days. Salary payments shall be withheld from an employee who has been absent because of illness or injury for more than twenty (20) consecutive days, if formal leave of absence has not been approved by the Human Resources Division.
- 6. If an employee has been absent on illness leave, he/she shall notify his/her supervisor at least one (1) day in advance of his/her expected return in order that any substitute service may be terminated. In case of failure to comply with this provision, if it happens that both the regular employee and the substitute report for duty, the latter is entitled to the assignment for the day. An employee returning to duty shall also be subject to the provisions of Section A.9.Health Examinations.
- 7. There shall not be a lump-sum payment for any unused accumulated illness allowance upon separation from service.
- 8. An employee shall not be allowed to undertake any gainful employment during any part of a day that the employee has claimed absence due to illness or injury. This restriction shall apply to all hours of a twenty-four (24) hour day, irrespective of the employee's assigned working hours. The employee shall certify on the Certification of Illness or Injury that he/she was not gainfully employed during the period of illness or injury absence.
- 9. Fractions of hours shall not be reported for the purpose of this Article.
- 10. When a permanent employee has exhausted his/her full-pay illness credit, he/she shall, at his/her request, be allowed vacation pay in lieu of half (½) pay illness. In order to effect such a change, the employee shall notify his/her time-reporting office of the dates to be paid as vacation. The beginning date shall not be earlier than the date on which the request is made, and the number of days to be paid as vacation shall not exceed the employee's vacation balance. Upon completion of payment for the designated vacation period, the employee may again be paid for illness leave.
- 11. A permanent employee who has exhausted all paid illness leave privileges, vacation, and other available paid leaves in a year, upon the recommendation of the Human Resources Division and the employee's division head or college president, be granted additional unpaid illness leave for a period not to exceed six (6) months. The leave may be renewed for two (2) additional six (6) month periods. The total of all paid and unpaid leave

allowed starting with the initial six (6) month leave period should not exceed eighteen (18) months.

- a. Unless notified to the contrary within thirty (30) days, the employee may properly assume the leave has been granted.
- b. Denial of the requested leave for medical reasons may be a basis for appeal for an Administrative Review by the Office of Employer Employee Relations.
- 12. Upon return to service from such leave, an employee shall be restored to a position in his/her former class and, if possible, to his/her former position in the class. If no vacancy exists in his/her former class, he/she shall have the right to return to a regular position in the class provided that he/she does not have the least seniority in that class. If an employee's former class has ceased to exist, the employee may be reassigned or shall be placed on the reemployment lists for the classes in which he/she had attained regular status.
- 13. When all paid or unpaid leaves of absence have been exhausted, an employee who is unable to assume the duties of his/her position shall be placed on a reemployment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months as if he/she were being laid off. An employee on a reemployment list shall have the same rights and benefits as an employee laid off for lack of work or lack of funds.

G. Industrial Accident Leave

1. <u>General Provisions</u> - Leave resulting from an industrial accident or industrial illness shall be granted in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

2. Paid Industrial Accident Leave

- a. A regular employee who is absent from duty because of an illness or injury defined as an industrial accident or industrial illness under provisions of the Workers' Compensation law shall be granted paid industrial accident leave for each such accident or illness while receiving temporary disability benefits from worker's compensation provided that:
 - (1) He/she has permanent status; or
 - (2) He/she is a probationary classified employee who has at least one hundred thirty (130) days of paid service; or
 - (3) The Chancellor or his/her designated representative has determined that the illness or injury was directly related to the performance of his/her duties and caused by assault and/or battery.

- b. Paid industrial accident leave shall be granted, as indicated in the employee's assignment, from the first day of absence to and including the last day of absence resulting from each separate industrial illness or industrial injury. A paid industrial accident leave granted under:
 - (1) Paragraphs G.2.a (1). and G.2.a (2) shall be for not more than sixty (60) working days in any one (1) fiscal year.
 - (2) Paragraph G.2.a (3), above, shall be for not more than one (1) calendar year.
 - (3) When an industrial accident or illness occurs at a time when the full sixty (60) days will overlap into the next fiscal year, the employee shall be entitled to only that amount remaining at the end of the year, in which the injury or illness occurred, for the same injury or illness.
 - (4) Allowable leave shall not be accumulative from year to year.
- c. Paid industrial accident leave shall be reduced by one (1) day for each day of authorized absence regardless of the temporary disability allowance made under workers' compensation. Days absent while on paid industrial accident leave shall not be deducted from the number of days of paid illness leave to which an employee may be entitled.

3. Illness Leave for Industrial Accident Purposes

- a. If the District's Employee Health Services determines that an employee is still unable to return to duty after exhausting paid industrial accident leave, the employee shall be placed on illness leave, provided he/she is eligible.
- b. Accumulated illness leave will be reduced only in the amount necessary to provide a full day's wages or salary, as indicated in the employee's assignment when added to compensation without penalties from the workers' compensation fund. Accumulated half (½) pay illness leave shall be reduced by no more than eight (8) hours for any one (1) day, or no more than the employee's basic daily assignment.
- 4. <u>Vacation Pay for Industrial Accident Purposes</u>. After all illness leave pay has been exhausted following a paid industrial accident leave, an employee may choose to receive pay from accrued vacation to the extent necessary to make up the employee's regular salary when receiving a temporary disability allowance without penalties from the workers' compensation fund.
- 5. <u>Industrial Accident Leave Without Pay.</u> After the expiration of all accumulated paid leave privileges, the District's Employee Health Services may approve an employee being placed on an industrial accident leave without pay. The total time of all leave benefits provided under this Article, including unpaid industrial accident leave, shall not exceed thirty-six (36) months for any one industrial accident or industrial illness.

6. Return to Service

a. From Paid and/or Unpaid Leave

- (1) Upon return to service from any paid or unpaid leave resulting from an industrial accident or industrial illness, an employee shall be assigned to a position in his/her former class ahead of any employee with a lesser amount of seniority. If no vacancy exists in his/her former class, he/she may displace the most recently appointed employee in the class with less seniority. If an employee's former class has ceased to exist, the employee may be reassigned or placed on a suitable reemployment list.
- (2) An employee returning from such paid or unpaid leave of absence shall not have any loss or gain in status or benefits other than that which is specifically provided in applicable provisions of this Agreement. An employee shall continue to receive seniority credit for all purposes while on such a paid or unpaid leave of absence.

b. From a Reemployment List

An employee on a reemployment list shall have the same rights and benefits as an employee laid off because of lack of work or lack of funds. The reemployment rights of an employee with limited term status only shall be limited to the same status the employee had earned previous to the industrial accident or industrial illness.

7. Reemployment List

- a. When all paid or unpaid leaves of absence have been exhausted following an industrial accident or industrial illness, an employee shall be terminated and his/her name shall be placed on the reemployment list for the class from which he/she was on leave for a period not to exceed thirty-nine (39) months.
- b. An employee who fails to accept an appropriate assignment after being medically approved by the District's Employee Health Services shall be removed from the reemployment list. Appropriate assignment is defined as an assignment to the employee's former class at the time of layoff, in his/her former status and time basis, and in assignment areas in which the employee has made him/herself available.
- c. In cases where there is disagreement between the District's Employee Health Services and the employee's attending physician concerning the employee's ability to return or not to return to work when the decision affects the retention or removal of the employee's name from the reemployment list, the employee may request an Administrative Review which shall include a third medical opinion.

8. Compensation

a. While an employee is on any paid leave resulting from an industrial accident or industrial illness, the employee's salary paid by the Los Angeles Community College District shall not, when added to the normal temporary disability allowance award without penalties granted the employee under workers' compensation, exceed the employee's regular salary. A permanent employee's regular salary is computed on the

basis of the number of hours and days in his/her basic daily assignment. An employee who is not permanent shall have his/her regular salary computed on the basis of the average number of hours worked each pay period in which the employee was in paid status during the preceding twelve (12) pay periods. An employee who receives a salary differential, other than a shift differential, shall lose the advantage of the differential after ten (10) consecutive days of paid industrial accident leave for any one (1) accident or illness.

- b. During all paid leaves resulting from an industrial accident or industrial illness, the District shall issue to the employee appropriate warrants for payment of wages, loss benefits, salary, and/or leave benefits and shall deduct normal retirement and authorized contributions.
- c. Final allowance for permanent industrial disability settlements shall not be subject to remittance to the District under this Section.
- 9. Out of State Travel. An employee receiving benefits under the provisions of this rule shall obtain prior approval of the Board of Trustees for any travel outside the State of California.

H. Jury Duty Leave

1. Responsibility of the District

Employees shall be granted a jury leave of absence, the paid portion of the leave not to exceed two (2) weeks during any two (2) consecutive fiscal years, when necessarily absent from work because of an order for jury duty. Jury leave of absence shall be granted by the employee's division head, college president, or their designated representative, unless the employee works under the direct supervision of the Chancellor, in which case the Chancellor shall grant the jury leave.

The Chancellor or the appropriate College President shall have the authority to approve payment for State or Federal jury service beyond the two (2) weeks provided herein.

2. Responsibility of the Employee

An employee receiving an order for jury duty shall:

- a. Notify his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible after the receipt of a letter directing him/her to appear for qualification for jury service and/or a jury summons.
- b. Attempt to arrange to be absent at a time within the limits of the court order convenient to the Chancellor, division head, college president, or their designated representative, provided such absence does not conflict with the employee's scheduled and approved vacation period.
- c. Fill out the forms related to jury leave of absence prescribed by the District.
- d. Present a certification from the clerk of the court or other authorized officer indicating attendance and/or service rendered during each day of absence from work while on jury leave of absence.
- e. Collect all jury fees and remit them to the Disbursement Branch of the Los Angeles Community College District, except as follows:
 - (1) Any mileage fee may be retained by the employee.
 - (2) Jury fees earned on days for which the District does not pay the employee.
 - (3) When the daily jury duty fee exceeds the employee's daily gross earnings for that day, the employee must remit the amount equal to his/her daily gross earnings.
- f. Subject to the possibility of making reasonable travel arrangements, make himself/herself available to the District for work during the balance of his/her normal working day or week when his/her presence is not required in court or elsewhere for jury duty. If the employee's regular assignment is to other than the day shift, the above requirements shall be fulfilled by making himself/herself available between the hours of 8 a.m. and 5 p.m.

3. Pay Provisions

- a. Except as provided below, the number of hours, the time of day, or the days of the week during which an employee is required to be absent for jury duty shall not be the basis for any overtime or shift differential payment of the District. In addition, pay under this rule is limited to those days and hours for which the employee would otherwise have received pay for his/her assignment if not excused for jury duty. When an employee makes himself/herself available to the District for work as set forth in Paragraph H.2.f. above, and is required to work more than eight (8) hours in one (1) day or forty (40) hours in one (1) week, including the hours or days for which he/she was absent from work or jury leave of absence, he/she shall be paid for overtime if eligible under other sections of this Agreement.
- b. No employee regularly assigned to a position entitled to a shift differential, shall lose such differential for the time spent on jury duty leave.

I. Maternity Leave

- 1. An unpaid maternity leave shall be granted to pregnant permanent employees. The duration of such leave may be, subject to approval of the Human Resources Division, upon review and recommendation of the District's Employee Health Services and the employee's attending physician. If an employee is eligible, the medical benefits described in Section Q, Family and Medical Leave, shall be applied concurrently.
- 2. For the period of time during which the employee is physically disabled and unable to perform her regular duties due to pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth and recovery there from, she shall be permitted to utilize her illness absence pursuant to Section F. of this Article.
- 3. Application for maternity leave for a period of more than twenty (20) consecutive working days shall be made on a prescribed form to be used by the Human Resources Division and shall indicate the beginning and ending days of the requested leave.
- 4. Employees returning from a leave of absence may be required to report to the District's Employee Health Services for a health examination.
- 5. Employees on maternity leave may, upon their request, be returned to work prior to the expiration date of the leave granted but, in any case, shall be assigned to a position not later than the date following the leave granted, in accordance with Paragraph I.3.
- 6. On return to service within ninety (90) working days, requests shall be granted to return to the same position to which assigned at the time the leave was granted. If the employee's former position has been filled on a regular basis, the employee returning from leave shall have the right to return to a regular position in the class. If there are no regular vacant positions, the employee may exercise bumping rights in the class, if the employee does not have the least seniority in that class.

- 7. Time spent on maternity leave shall not be considered a break in continuous service. This time shall be counted toward seniority for the purpose of:
 - a. Establishing retention lists in the event of a layoff;
 - b. Computing seniority credit for promotional examination.
- 8. Maternity leave of absence without pay may be granted at the discretion of the division head or college president to classified employees during their initial probationary period.

J. Military Leave

1. An appropriate military leave shall be granted to an employee in accordance with the provisions of the Military and Veterans Code, and subject to the provisions of this Article. As used in this Article, "Military Leave" means either a Temporary Military Leave or a Military Leave Other Than Temporary or both.

a. Temporary Military Leave

An employee who is a member of the reserve corps of the Armed Forces of the United States or of the National Guard or of the Naval Militia shall be granted a Temporary Military Leave while engaged in military duty ordered for the purposes of military training, drills, encampment, naval cruises, special exercises or like activity as such member providing that the period of ordered duty does not exceed one hundred eighty (180) calendar days including time involved in going to and returning from such duty.

b. Military Leave Other Than Temporary

A Military Leave Other Than Temporary shall be granted to an employee who is ordered into active military duty as a member of a reserve component of the Armed Forces of the United States; is ordered into active Federal military duty as a member of the National Guard or Naval Militia; or is inducted, enlists, enters, or is otherwise ordered or called into active duty as a member of the Armed Forces of the United States.

2. Vacation and Illness Privileges

a. Vacation Privileges

Except as herein provided, no vacation privileges shall accrue during military leave. However, vacation privileges already earned but not taken may be granted either prior to or after return from military leave in accordance with the vacation policy in effect at the time the vacation leave is taken. Vacation privileges, as defined in Article 12 of this Agreement, shall accrue to an employee while on temporary military leave.

b. <u>Illness Privileges</u>

Illness privileges shall accrue to an employee while on military leave but no illness leave shall be allowed during military leave.

3. Return to Position

An employee absent from the service of the District because of a military leave shall continue to accrue seniority credit during such absence. An employee returning from military leave shall, upon application made within one (1) year after the cessation of war emergency or within six (6) months of prior completion of active military duty service, be returned to a position in his/her classification, if such a position exists, in accordance with pertinent provisions of the Military and Veterans Code. The right to return to his/her position is granted provided that he/she returns within twelve (12) months after the first date upon which he/she could terminate or could cause to have terminated his/her active service. He/she shall be entitled to a position in his/her former class ahead of any employee with a less amount of seniority with the understanding that vacancies caused by the granting of such leave may be filled by regular appointment. If such a position in his/her former class has ceased to exist during his/her absence, he/she shall be returned to a vacant position in a comparable class for which qualified. In the absence of such a vacant position in a comparable class for which qualified, the employee's name shall be placed on such reemployment list for a period not to exceed thirty-nine (39) months from the date of his/her application.

4. Eligibility to Take Examinations

An employee shall be eligible to take examinations for which otherwise qualified during the time of military leave. An employee on a military leave whose name appears on an eligibility list shall be certified for assignment to a position in the class during the life of any such list when and if his/her name is reached. In the event the employee accepts the appointment, he/she shall be granted the same type of military leave from the new position.

5. Placement on an Eligibility List

An employee returning from a military leave, in accordance with Paragraph J.3., shall be eligible to take a supplementary examination for any class for which there is an eligible list in effect, the examination for which he/she was unable to take by reason of his/her military service, provided such veteran met the requirements for such examination at the date it was originally conducted. Such supplementary examinations shall be prepared and conducted under conditions and techniques which are sufficiently similar to the respective original examinations to preserve their competitive character. The name of the candidate who is successful in the supplemental examination shall be added to the list for the class for which he/she was examined immediately ahead of the person who received the next lower grade among those taking either the original examination or any examination supplemental thereto.

6. Compensation for First Calendar Month of Military Leave

- a. Upon presentation of adequate evidence of military service for which pay is requested, an employee shall be paid his/her salary or compensation as an employee of the District for the first calendar month of his/her military service while on a military leave exclusive of time not covered by his/her assignment basis code, providing the following conditions are met:
 - (1) The employee is on military leave after October 1, 1949, a member of the National Guard or Naval Militia, or a member of a reserve component of the Armed forces of the United States or the employee is on military leave after July 16, 1951, a result of being inducted, enlisted, or otherwise having entered or been called into active duty as a member of the Armed Forces of the United States.
 - (2) An employee on temporary military leave or on military leave other than temporary must have been in the service of the District for a period of not less than one (1) year immediately prior to the date the absence begins. An employee on temporary military leave may count all previous recognized military service in order to accumulate the required one (1) year in the service of the District. The one (1) year in the service of the District is not required in the case of an employee who is ordered into active military service as a member of the National Guard under a situation included within Section 146 of the Military and Veterans Code.
 - (3) A regular employee with provisional, relief, or substitute status in another class shall receive a military leave from his/her regular position and shall receive compensation in accordance with his/her current assignment during the time he/she is entitled to compensation under the Military and Veterans Code.
 - (4) No more than the pay for a period of one (1) calendar month shall be allowed for any military leave or military leaves involving continuous military service or during any one (1) fiscal year. The salary to be paid is equivalent to that salary rate which the employee would have received during the first (1st) calendar month of military leave after the applicable dates indicated in Paragraph J.6.a (1). Fractions of less than one (1) month shall be paid on the same basis as if the employee had been in active service as a Board employee. Retroactive salary payments shall be made to employees or former employees who are entitled to such payments.
- 7. Under no conditions shall the rights, privileges, and benefits under this Article exceed those permitted by the Military and Veterans Code.

K. Peace Corps, Red Cross, or Merchant Marine Leave

 Permanent employees covered by this Agreement may be granted unpaid leave of absence not to exceed twenty-five (25) months to serve in the Peace Corps. During any period of war or national emergency, Red Cross Leave or Merchant Marine Leave shall be granted in accordance with provisions of the Military and Veterans Code and the Education Code. 2. Upon completion of Peace Corps, Red Cross or Merchant Marine Leave, employees shall have the right to return to a position in the same classification to which assigned at the time the leave was granted. If such classification has ceased to exist, the employee shall be assigned to a position in a comparable classification, having essentially the same qualifications. The employee shall accrue seniority credit for examination and layoff purposes.

L. Personal Business Leave

Unpaid Personal Business Leave may be granted at the discretion of the District.

M. Personal Necessity Leave

- 1. A classified employee may, at his/her election, and upon notice to his/her immediate supervisor at the earliest opportunity, use not more than seven (7) days of illness leave in a school year for personal necessity leave.
- 2. The leave benefits provided by this Article may be used only for the following personal necessities:
 - a. The death of a member of the employee's immediate family when necessary leave beyond that provided by this agreement for bereavements is required. Member of the immediate family means the mother, father, grandfather, grandmother, or grandchild of the employee or of the employee's spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother or sister of the employee, or any relative living in the immediate household of the employee
 - An accident involving the employee's person not chargeable to illness leave, or industrial illness leaves.
 - c. An accident involving the employee's property or the person or property of a member of the employee's immediate family or an illness of a member of the employee's immediate family, as defined above. Such accident or illness must be:
 - (1) Serious in nature.
 - (2) Involve circumstances the employee cannot reasonably be expected to disregard.
 - (3) Require the attention of the employee during his/her assigned hours of service.
 - d. An appearance of the employee in any court or before any administrative tribunal as a litigant, party, or witness under an official governmental order, provided the employee:
 - (1) Presents a certification from the clerk of the court or other authorized officer indicating each date of necessary attendance.
 - (2) Remits any witness fee collected to the Disbursements Branch of the District.

- (3) Makes him/herself available to the District for work between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. when his/her appearance in court or before an administrative tribunal is not necessary.
- e. The birth of a child making it necessary for an employee who is the father of the child to be absent from his position during his assigned hours of service.
- f. Imminent danger to the home or an employee, occasioned by a factor such as flood or fire, which under the circumstances the employee cannot reasonably be expected to disregard, and which requires the attention of the employee during his/her assigned hours of service.
- g. Any other significant event, personal to the employee, for which paid leave of absence is not authorized, which under the circumstances the employee cannot reasonably be expected to disregard, and which requires the immediate attention of the employee during his/her assigned hours of service.
- 3. The following limits and conditions are placed upon personal necessity leave and personal necessity leave pay:
 - a. The total number of days allowed in one (1) school year (July 1-June 30) for such leave or leaves shall not exceed seven (7) days.
 - b. The days allowed shall be deducted from and may not exceed the number of days of illness leave to which the employee is entitled.
 - c. A permanent classified employee may, upon approval of the appropriate administrative authority, be permitted to interrupt or terminate vacation leave to begin personal necessity leave under the provisions of Article 12, provided such leave is necessary for not less than two (2) days and the employee indicates at the earliest practical opportunity the basis of the request for change in leave status, the probable duration of the requested leave and provides appropriate supporting documents for the request.
 - d. The employee shall be required to sign, on a prescribed form a statement that such absence was due to a personal necessity, as defined above. Subject to the direction of his/her division head, the administrator or supervisor shall take whatever steps are necessary to satisfy that a personal necessity did exist within the limits of this Section.
 - e. Two (2) of the seven (7) days allowed under Personal Necessity Leave may be taken for personal business. Such personal business days shall be taken at a time convenient to the employee provided that the employee has notified his/her immediate supervisor at least two (2) working days in advance of the beginning of the absence.

N. Retraining and Study Leave of Absence

1. Eligibility

- a. The employee must have attained permanent status.
- b. The employee must have rendered paid satisfactory service to the District for not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of his/her regular assigned time in each of the prior seven (7) consecutive years, with an overall performance evaluation rating of Meets or Exceeds Work Performance standards in the previous two (2) years.
 - Leaves do not break the continuity of service but may reduce the total days of service, except only service rendered following the most recent Retraining and Study Leave will be counted for subsequent Retraining and Study Leaves.
- c. The employee's study plan shall indicate enrollment in at least eight (8) semester units each semester or its equivalent in an accredited institution of higher education. The leave plan may combine elements of formal study and independent study in a ratio so as to meet the minimum requirements. The leave may include work experience in an established organization or business enterprise.
- d. The study program must be initiated subsequent to the approval of the leave and completed with a grade "C" or better during the leave.
- e. The program for study or retraining must be related to the employee's duties, classification, career ladder or otherwise benefit the District.
- f. Any change in the planned program must be approved by the District in advance of implementing any change.

2. Length of Leave

- a. The leave may be taken for up to a full year.
- b. A year is defined as the assignment period of the employee's basis.
- c. A full year leave may be split in two (2) half ($\frac{1}{2}$) year leaves with the second (2^{nd}) half ($\frac{1}{2}$) taken at a later time within a three (3) year period.
- d. The District may cancel the leave if an employee fails to maintain an adequate study program.

3. Compensation

- a. An employee on a Retraining and Study Leave will be paid at least one-half (1/2) of his/her regular rate of pay.
- b. Payment may be made to the employee in two (2) equal semi-annual installments or made in the same manner as if the employee were performing service to the District.

- c. The employee must furnish the District with a suitable bond against loss in the event that the employee fails to render two (2) years of service required following the return from the Retraining and Study Leave, or furnish the District with other assurances as the District elects to permit.
- d. An employee who fails to complete the approved leave objectives shall reimburse the District for compensation for the period following the discontinuance of the Retraining and Study Leave Program.

4. Benefits

- a. Benefits shall accrue to the employee on Retraining and Study Leave and will not be regarded a break in service save only the exclusions of Retraining and Study Leave Eligibility paragraph 4.b. below.
- b. Incomplete leaves can count toward benefits only to the extent that leave Retraining and Study Leave pay was approved.

5. Additional Employment

- a. An employee may continue working multiple assignments or previously held outside employment while on leave provided there is no conflict in hours.
- b. Acceptance of new additional employment that does not interfere with the achievement of the study program shall be subject to District approval. Excess income from new employment that is greater than the Retraining and Study Leave pay will be subject to a deduction in the Retraining and Study Leave pay and the Retraining and Study Leave pay does not exceed the employee's regular District pay including differentials for which the employee would have been eligible had he/she not been on leave.

6. Applications

- a. Requests for retraining and Study Leave may be made within ninety (90) days prior to the fiscal year in which the leave will be taken but no later than sixty (60) days prior to the effective day of the leave.
- b. Split leaves must be applied for separately.

7. Requirements

- a. Monthly certification of compliance with the conditions of the study program. An employee must fill out and submit to the District form C351.
- b. Form C351 must be received by the Human Resources Division no later than the Tuesday proceeding the first (1st) payday of each month.

- c. An interruption of a study program by a serious injury or illness sustained during leave will not be considered a failure to fulfill conditions of the Retraining and Study Leave. Written notice of such illness or injury must be reported to the Human Resources Division within ten (10) days on form C138, or by letter to which a doctor's statement verifying the situation is attached. Such notice should be sent by certified mail.
- d. After receipt of illness or injury notice, the District shall immediately place the employee on illness leave until the District receives a release from the doctor upon which the employee may elect to return to work or resume the Retraining and Study Leave.
- e. An interruption of a study program due to an involuntary call to active military service will automatically convert the Retraining and Study Leave to a Military Leave without jeopardy to the Retraining and Study Leave already received. If this conversion takes place before the end of the first (1st) pay period, the employee's Retraining and Study Leave shall be preserved for when the Military Leave ends and the employee returns to District service. If the conversion takes place after the close of the first pay period, the employee will be considered as having used one-half (½) year of Retraining and Study Leave. Such an employee shall have two and one-half (2½) years to complete the Retraining and Study Leave.
- f. An employee who has failed to complete all the study program requirements due to serious illness in the family or other causes beyond the employee's control may receive compensation on a prorated fractional 1/4, 1/2, 3/4 basis if a significant portion of the requirements have been completed.
- g. Partial compensation for an incomplete leave which was approved for independent study will only be authorized if the composition of the study is such that certain portions can be completed apart from the remainder of the study. The completed units must be significant in themselves. Work that is merely an introduction to other work or a collection of data that is not used in reaching a conclusion will not be considered as meeting any portion of the requirements, regardless of the amount of work involved.

8. Cancellation of Leave

- a. A Retraining and Study Leave may be canceled at any time and converted to a resignation, layoff, return to duty, or any other leave an employee is eligible for.
- b. Cancellation received by the Human Resources Division before the beginning of the effective date of a Retraining and Study Leave shall preserve the employee's Retraining and Study Leave eligibility.
- c. If an employee requests a cancellation after the effective date of the leave but before the end of the first (1st) pay period, leave payment will be canceled but eligibility will be preserved.
- d. An employee who cancels after receiving his/her first (1st) leave payment but before the second (2nd) payment must refund the Retraining and Study Leave pay and will

loose one-half (½) year's Retraining and Study Leave but may take the second (2nd) half (½) of the Retraining and Study Leave within three (3) years of the effective date of the canceled leave.

e. An employee whose Retraining and Study Leave is canceled for reasons other than that described in this Article shall be deemed as having had a Retraining and Study Leave.

9. Return to Service

- a. An employee must render paid service to the District after returning from a Retraining and Study Leave which is equal to twice the period of leave.
- b. Upon completion of the Retraining and Study Leave the employee will be assigned, unless he/she otherwise consents, to the same unit or section to which assigned at the time the leave was granted, provided that no conditions have developed during the period of leave or at the time of return that would have changed the employee location or duties had he/she remained in active service.
- c. An employee who is permitted to return to duty from a canceled Retraining and Study Leave has no rights to his/her former location until the ending date of his/her Retraining and Study Leave subject to the exceptions of Paragraph N.9.b.

10. Retraining and Study Committee

- a. The Retraining and Study Committee shall have the sole discretion in determining and approving the study programs.
- b. The Retraining and Study Committee shall be composed of the same members as the Tuition Reimbursement Committee.

O. Work-Related Absences

1. Examinations and Other Employment Procedures

An employee, upon giving his/her immediate supervisor not less than two (2) days notice, shall be permitted to take any examination and to participate in other employment procedures of the Los Angeles Community College District during working hours, without loss of pay or other penalty. If less than two (2) days notice is given by an employee, permission to participate without loss of pay is subject to approval by his/her immediate supervisor.

2. Epidemics and Emergencies

An employee shall be paid his/her regular salary for any period during which he/she is unable to work at his/her regular place of employment because it is closed due to quarantine, epidemic, or other conditions involving the health or safety of students or employees. To be eligible for such pay the employee must be ready, able, and willing to

perform his/her customary or other reasonable and suitable duties. The college or division during this period shall endeavor to assign the employee to work elsewhere.

P. Assault and Battery Leave

- An assault and battery leave is a type of industrial accident leave granted to employees
 covered by this agreement because of an injury resulting from an assault and/or battery
 that was incurred while on duty.
- 2. Employees who have suffered attacks or menaced by any person is to promptly report the incident to the appropriate County or City law enforcement authorities.
- 3. The employee shall attach a statement to the appropriate leave request form from a licensed physician verifying the employee's inability to return to work due to injury, and a copy of the report from the law enforcement agency. This report shall be placed only in the worker's compensation file and will not be made part of the employee's personnel file.

Q. Family and Medical Leave (Mandatory)

1. Definition

A family and medical leave is one granted to an employee who is compelled to be absent from duty because of the employee's own serious health condition which makes it impossible to perform essential job functions; the birth or adoption of a child, or receiving a child for foster care; or caring for a sick spouse, child or parent with a serious health condition.

In addition to those family members defined above, eligible family members for the purposes of this leave are limited to:

- a. biological, adopted and foster children under eighteen (18),
- b. anyone under eighteen (18) who is treated as the employee's child,
- c. disabled children of any age who have a physical or mental impairment that would qualify as a disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act, and who require supervision or active help in performing several activities of daily living,
- d. biological parents, and/or custodial parents and anybody who treated the employee as a son or daughter when the employee was under eighteen (18) or disabled,
- e. common-law husbands and wives.

2. Requirements

STATUS: The employee must have probationary or permanent status in the District at the time the leave begins.

SERVICE: The employee must have been employed for at least twelve (12) months and rendered paid service of one thousand two hundred fifty (1,250) hours of work during the previous twelve (12) months of employment which does not have to be consecutive.

3. Length of Leave

- a. Leave shall be granted for a maximum of twelve (12) weeks per calendar year, taken continuously or intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule. It cannot be carried over from year to year.
- b. For a new child, family leave must be completed within twelve (12) months after the birth, adoption or placement for foster care.
- c. If a husband and wife both work for the District, and are both eligible for leave, they can have only twelve (12) weeks for leave of birth, adoption, foster care or caring for a sick parent, which they can split between them. However, both are entitled to the full twelve (12) weeks for their own illness, or caring for a sick child or spouse.
- d. Related leaves include Illness, Maternity, and Child Care. Benefits under this leave section run concurrently with leave benefits allowed under Illness, Maternity, and Child Care Leaves.
- 4. <u>Compensation</u>. No salary will be paid by the District for the period of the leave. However, employees may elect to take any available paid illness and vacation leaves in lieu of unpaid Family and Medical Leave.

5. Effect on Benefits

- a. Employees on Family and Medical Leave shall be covered by District Life Insurance Group Coverage and Hospital-Medical, Dental, Vision Group Coverage as though they were in active service.
- b. No credit is allowed for any benefits for time spent on unpaid family illness leave.
- c. Time on leave with pay counts for step advance, retirement, and vacation; credit in full for step advance and vacation, and full or half (½), according to the pay allowed, for retirement.
- d. Time on Family and Medical Leave does count as service in meeting requirements for other types of leaves.
- 6. <u>Request Procedure.</u> The employee shall furnish evidence to his/her immediate supervisor that leave taken in accordance with the provisions of this section is in connection with family illness. The employee shall notify his/her immediate supervisor if any of the circumstances necessitating the leave change.

ARTICLE 14 TRANSFERS

- A. **Definition.** A transfer is defined as the reassignment of an employee from one location to another location (college campus) in the same classification.
- B. In order to improve the opportunity for District employees within this unit to transfer to other positions within the District, the District will maintain a transfer eligibility list for each class for a period of one (1) year. Of the employees requesting transfer, the two (2) employees with the most seniority in the District shall be interviewed for any vacancy to which the employee has been certified from such file of names prior to an appointment.
- C. Transfer of probationary employees will occur only in the best interest of the District.
- D. The District may transfer an employee without the employee's approval to any position provided that the transfer is in the best interest of the District. An involuntary transfer shall not be used as a form of discipline. A seven (7) day written notice to the employee is required prior to implementation.
- E. In the event that an employee is subject to an involuntary transfer, he/she will be returned to the position from which transferred, if that position becomes available during the thirty-nine (39) months following the involuntary transfer if the employee remains in the same classification. In the event that this provision conflicts with seniority provisions set forth in the appropriate sections of the Education Code, the Education code provisions shall prevail.

ARTICLE 15 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION PROCEDURE

A. Schedule

Employees shall be evaluated in accordance with the following schedule:

- a. **Probationary employees** in a class shall be evaluated during the third (3rd) and fifth (5th) months of their probationary period.
- b. Permanent employees in a class shall be evaluated by their anniversary date each year.
- c. The Performance Evaluation for Classified Employees form located in Appendix B will be used to record the results of the evaluation process. The District may make additional performance evaluations for permanent or probationary employees at any time. Refer to the instructions included with the evaluation form for the conditions under which a supervisor may conduct additional evaluations.
- d. The District may omit probationary performance evaluations for an employee who:
 - (1) Has permanent status in the classified service,
 - (2) Is occupying a position reclassified to another class,

- (3) Has occupied the same position prior to the reclassification action and, while occupying the position,
- (4) Has received a performance evaluation during the year preceding the effective date of the reclassification action.

B. Procedure

- 1. The employee shall be evaluated by his/her immediate supervisor. The supervisor is the person who is responsible for overseeing, reviewing and/or checking the employee's work performance. Performance evaluations shall be made by those persons who are immediately responsible for the employee's work. The evaluator either oversees, reviews, and checks the daily work performance of the employee being evaluated, or is the one who is most closely acquainted with the employee's daily work performance. The employee and/or the supervisor may also request input regarding job performance skills from a lead employee who holds the same area of trade skill expertise as the employee being evaluated. Probationary employees may be evaluated by each supervisor under whom the employee has worked during the probationary evaluation period. Permanent employees shall be evaluated by each supervisor under whom the employee has worked at least ninety (90) working days during the performance evaluation period.
- 2. Steps to be followed and factors to be evaluated by supervisors in completing the Performance Evaluation Forms are described on the reverse side of the forms, see Appendix B.
- 3. An individual evaluation conference shall be held with each employee at which time an explanation shall be given for:
 - a. The reasons for performance evaluation
 - b. Job content
 - c. The kind of work performance expected
 - d. The basis for the evaluation given
 - e. Areas where work performance may be improved, if any
- 4. The employee shall have an opportunity to review his or her evaluation prior to placement in his or her personnel file.
- 5. Review of the performance evaluation by the next higher level of administrative authority is optional. Any comments made by the reviewer shall be signed and shown to the supervisor who made the evaluation and to the employee.
- 6. A supervisor who believes that an employee's work performance has been exceptional should complete the District's form entitled "Notice of Outstanding Work Performance," in addition to the District's Performance Evaluation Form, or at any time when deemed appropriate. The outstanding work performance described may have occurred on a day-to-day basis, or in an unusually difficult and/or emergency situation. All Notices of Outstanding Work Performance shall be reviewed and signed by the employee's college president or division head or designated representative. Employees shall be provided a copy of any written comments made by the reviewer.

7. The supervisors shall complete the evaluation process by following the steps included on the evaluation form in Appendix B.

C. Definitions of Evaluation Ratings

- 1. **Exceeds Work Performance Standards**: A check in this column indicates that the employee's work is better than satisfactory. If there are a number of checks in this column, the supervisor should consider giving a Notice of Outstanding Work Performance.
- 2. **Meets Work Performance Standards**: A check in this column indicates that the employee's work is definitely and consistently satisfactory.
- 3. **Needs Improvement Performance Standards**: Persons evaluated in this category usually require additional training and closer supervision in order to meet fully the established work standards. The employee should understand that his/her work is not considered unsatisfactory. Continued failure to show improvement may lead to preparation of a Notice of Unsatisfactory Service.

D. Classification of Position

The employee and the supervisor shall review the duties of the class as listed in the current class description. If either feels that the employee spends an appreciable portion of his/her time performing duties inappropriate to his or her class, either the employee's duties need to be modified to fit the classification description or a reclassification of the position should be initiated with the Personnel Commission.

E. Appeal

- 1. Except as provided below, any and all matters related to performance evaluations shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of Article 18.
 - a. Only if a permanent employee receives one or more checks in the below "Below Work Performance Standards" column may he/she avail him/herself of the grievance procedure. Such grievances shall only be processed up to and including Step Three (3) of said procedure (see Summary of Due Process, Appendix C).
 - b. Notices of Unsatisfactory Service issued to permanent employees who are not related to a recommendation for further disciplinary action, may be grieved in accordance with the provisions of the grievance procedure (see Summary of Due Process, Appendix C).

ARTICLE 16 HEALTH AND WELFARE

Master Benefits Agreement
Between
The Los Angeles Community College District
and

the Los Angeles College Faculty Guild, AFT Local 1521,
the AFT College Staff Guild, Los Angeles, AFT Local 1521A,
the Los Angeles City and Counties School Employees Union, SEIU Local 99,
the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council,
the Supervisory Employees Union-, SEIU Local 721; and
the Public, Professional and Medical Employees Union of
the California Teamsters, Local 911

Regarding

Hospital-Medical, Dental, Vision Group Coverage, Group Life Insurance Coverage, and the District's Employee Assistance Program/Wellness Services

The Los Angeles Community College District (the "District") and the exclusive representatives of the District's employees (the Los Angeles College Faculty Guild, AFT Local 1521; the AFT College Staff Guild, Los Angeles, AFT Local 1521A; the Los Angeles City and County School Employees Union, SEIU Local 99; the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council; the Supervisory Employees Union, SEIU Local 721; and the Public, Professional and Medical Employees Union of the California Teamsters, Local 911—hereinafter collectively referred to as the District's "Exclusive Representatives") agree to the following provisions regarding the District's Health Benefits Program, group life insurance coverage and employee assistance program. This agreement is intended to replace all existing agreements between the parties on the subject of the District's Health Benefits Program as defined in this agreement, as well as the District's group life insurance coverage and employee assistance program/wellness services, and for that reason shall, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any of the individual agreements between the District and its Exclusive Representatives, entirely supersede all previously negotiated agreements between the parties with respect to those subjects:

I. Health and Related Benefits Program for Active Employees¹ and their Dependents and Survivors

A. Health Benefits Program. The District's "Health Benefits Program" consists of group benefit plans recommended by the Joint Labor/Management Benefits Committee (JLMBC) and approved by the District's Board of Trustees (the "Board) under which eligible District employees (and their eligible dependents) receive hospital, medical, dental, and vision care coverage.

Effective beginning the 2010 plan year, as a result of JLMBC recommendation and bargaining among the parties, the hospital and medical coverage shall be administered by the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) Health Care Program in accordance with the Public Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA). The purpose of the Health Benefits Program is to provide quality health care to the District's employees, retirees, and their eligible dependents and survivors.

44

¹ For this section 'Active Employees' does not include less than half time (.5) part-time temporary faculty and temporary adjunct faculty. They are covered in section II.

- 1. Eligibility. Each of the following employees and his or her dependents and survivors are eligible to receive benefits and enroll in plans under the Health Benefits Program once the District has verified the employee's, dependent's or survivor's eligibility under this agreement:
 - **a.** Every member of a classified bargaining unit who is employed at least half time as either a probationary or regular classified employee.
 - **b.** Every faculty member who is employed at least half-time in one or more monthly rate assignments. "Limited term" academic appointments must have a duration of at least a semester.
 - c. Every member of the administrators' bargaining unit who is employed at least half time.
- **2. Dependents.** Dependents who are eligible to enroll in plans under the Health Benefits Program include an eligible employee's:
 - Spouse. Marriage certificate and social security number of spouse must be on file.
 - **b.** Qualified domestic partner as specified in Appendix I.
 - **c.** Children (natural, adopted, foster, domestic partner children, or stepchildren) up to age 26 unmarried. Coverage will terminate at the end of the month in which dependent turns age 26.
 - d. Economically Dependent Children. Children up to age 26 (not otherwise eligible under subsection 2.c or 2.d, above) unmarried, who are economically dependent (as being claimed as dependents on the employee's federal income tax returns) upon the subscriber (eligible employee or retiree). The subscriber must have been granted legal or joint legal custody of the child; or the child resides with the subscriber (generally in the absence of natural or adoptive parents).
 - e. Disabled Children Over Age 26. Children (not otherwise eligible under subsection 2.c or 2.d, above) unmarried, without regard to age, who are physically or mentally incapacitated (and therefore incapable of self support), and who are being claimed as dependents on the employee's federal income tax returns. The mental or physical condition must have existed prior to age 26 and continuously since age 26.
- 3. Survivors. Upon the death of an active employee, the District shall deem the employee to have resigned from District employment on the date of his or her death and to have begun receiving a retirement allowance whether or not the employee was in fact old enough to retire. If, based on that premise, the employee would have been eligible to continue his or her participation in the hospital and medical plans available to active employees under Section III below, Section III of this Agreement shall be applicable to the employee's survivors as if they were survivors of a retiree. For that purpose, references to survivors of retirees in Section III shall be deemed to refer to those individuals.
- **4. Enrollment.** Verification of eligibility, and enrollment or re-enrollment in plans shall be administered as follows:

a. Initial Enrollment. Upon employment, each new employee who is eligible to enroll in plans under the Health Benefits Program shall receive complete information regarding the District's Health Benefits Program, and may enroll in hospital, medical, dental, and vision care plans. The employee's hire date will establish an event date by which the employee will need to enroll all eligible family members into an eligible health plan within 60 (sixty) days. (Enrollment in the Premium Only Plan described in Section II takes place during the designated time periods.)

If the District receives the employee's enrollment forms at anytime during the calendar month, the District shall process the forms so as to make coverage effective on the first day of the following calendar month. If the District receives the employee's enrollment forms after the 60 (sixty) day eligibility timeframe, this will be considered a Late Enrollment. Under this situation, the employee will either have to wait a 90-day period or until the next CalPERS Open Enrollment period. The earliest effective date of enrollment will be the first of the month following the 90-day waiting period or the January 1 following the Open Enrollment period.

- b. Re-enrollment Following a Break in Coverage. Following a break in coverage an eligible employee may re-enroll in hospital, medical, dental, and vision care plans. The employee can reenroll at any time where the break in coverage was due to an error by the District or if there is a qualifying life event. If the District receives the employee's re-enrollment forms at anytime during the calendar month, the District shall process the forms so as to make coverage effective on the first day of the following calendar month.
- **c. Open Enrollment.** There shall be an open enrollment period each enrollment year during which eligible employees may change plans. The District shall announce the dates of such open enrollment period, and shall publish and webpost open enrollment materials fourteen or more days before the beginning of the open enrollment period. If an eligible employee requests a change of plan, he or she shall continue to be covered under his or her existing plan until January 1 of the following year when the new plan can become effective.
- d. Changes in Enrollment Other Than During Open Enrollment. Once enrolled in a plan, employees are generally barred from changing their enrollment except during an open enrollment period. Nevertheless, changes may be made under the following circumstances:
 - 1 Any employee who is enrolled in a closed panel plan and who changes his or her permanent residence to a location that is outside the service area of the plan may, by submitting a timely application to CalPERS, via the District, change his or her enrollment to a plan that provides service in the area of his or her new permanent residence without a break in coverage. To be timely, the application for a change in enrollment must be received by the District within ninety (60) days after the employee established his or her new permanent residence.
 - 2 Any employee who is enrolled in a closed panel plan and who, during an approved study, retraining or sabbatical leave of absence of sixty (60) days or

more, temporarily relocates to a location that is outside the service area of the plan may, by submitting a timely application to CalPERS, via the District, temporarily change his or her enrollment to a plan that provides service in the area in which he or she will be temporarily located. To be timely, the application for a temporary change in enrollment must be received by the date on which the employee's leave commences.

- 3 Any employee whose enrollment in a plan is terminated at the request or option of the plan provider for any reason other than non-payment of premium may enroll in another plan without a break in coverage by submitting a timely application to CalPERS, via the District. To be timely, the application for a change in enrollment must be received by the District within sixty (60) days after the employee's enrollment was terminated. Qualified, covered individuals will not have their health plans terminated due to claims or increased utilization.
- 4 Finally, any employee who has had a "qualified life event" as defined by Sections 125 and 129 of the Internal Revenue Code may change his or her eligible dependents by submitting a timely application to CalPERS, via the District. To be timely, the application for a permissible "qualified life event" change must be received by CalPERS via the District within thirty-one days of the qualifying event.

Refer to CalPERS 's "Health Enrollment Reason Codes" for specific qualifying events and effective dates for coverage. Contact the District Benefits Office for this information.

e. Mandatory Re-enrollment During Open Enrollment.

Under normal circumstances CalPERS does not require mandatory re-enrollment each year in its health plans. They will notify current participating active employees of their options to change health plans or add/remove dependents during open enrollment. If the employee does not elect any changes, his or her hospital/medical coverage will continue with the same plan and dependents (pending eligibility).

If the employee does not elect any changes to the dental, vision and life insurance benefits during open enrollment, coverage will continue with the same plans and dependents.

- **5. District Contribution Towards Premiums.** Eligible employees shall be entitled to the District's contribution towards the premium costs of the plans in which they and their dependents are enrolled if:
 - a. the eligible employee was in paid status during the calendar month preceding the month during which benefit coverage is effective and received at least one-half of the pay he or she would have earned had he or she received pay for full-time work; or
 - **b.** the eligible employee, even though not in paid status, is on a formal illness leave of absence for a period of not more than eighteen months; or

c. a specific section of the collective bargaining agreement applicable to the employee (for example, a section specifying compensation during certain leaves) explicitly provides for his or her entitlement to the District's contribution.

For the purposes of Section 5.a, every eligible employee, other than a temporary monthly-rate faculty member, shall be deemed to be in paid status during any recess or intersession if he or she is scheduled to return to paid status in his or her position at the end of the recess or intersession. A temporary monthly-rate faculty member shall be deemed to be in paid status during any recess or intersession if, before the beginning of the recess or intersession, he or she is assigned to a position at any district location that will render him or her eligible for benefits and is scheduled to return to paid status in that position at the end of the recess or intersession.

6. Payment of Premiums During Unpaid Leaves. Eligible employees who have been granted an unpaid leave of absence and are not entitled to the District's contribution towards the premium costs of the plans in which they and their dependents are enrolled may continue to receive benefits under the Health Benefits Program by establishing a direct payment between the employee and the health plan provider for the period of the leave.

Should an employee fail to make a payment required by this section, coverage shall terminate at the end of the month for which the last payment was received.

Should the District terminate an employee's coverage in error, it shall reinstate the employee's coverage as soon as the error is discovered and, at the employee's option, either issue the employee a refund of the amount he or she paid for the months during which he or she did not receive coverage, or extend the employee's coverage for an equivalent period.

7. Continued Eligibility and Payment of Premiums Following Layoff or Furlough. Notwithstanding anything in Sections I.A.1 and I.A.6 to the contrary, employees who have been furloughed (a furlough is a temporary lay-off for a specified period with a definite return date) shall remain eligible to receive benefits under the Health Benefits Program, and shall continue to be entitled to the District's contribution towards the premium costs of the plans in which they and their dependents are enrolled, during the period of their furlough.

When an employee is laid off (a layoff is a separation from regular service for lack of work or lack of funds, or because of a reduction in force) CalPERS' business rules stipulate termination of coverage for layoff beginning the next month after separation date. Employees who have been laid-off shall, upon applying and qualifying for COBRA (see section I.A.9 below), continue to be entitled to the District's contribution towards the COBRA premium costs of their plans, according to the following table:

Years of Service	Months of Continuation Following Layoff	
1-5	2 months	
6-10	4 months	

48

These rules for furlough and lay-off do not apply to employees who are in temporary or limited status.

8. Conditions of and Limitations on Eligibility and Coverage.

- a. Dual Coverage. Employees and their dependents may not be enrolled in more than one CalPERS plan at any one time. For that reason, an employee may be enrolled in a plan in his or her own capacity as an employee, or as a dependent of another employee, but not simultaneously in one plan as an employee and in another plan as a dependent.
- **b. Split Enrollment.** Children or other individuals who qualify as dependents may be enrolled in a plan only once as a dependent, not simultaneously in one plan as a dependent of one employee and in another plan as a dependent of another employee.
- c. Every employee (or in the event of his or her incapacity, the employee's representative or agent) shall report any event or change of circumstance that has an effect on the administration of coverage under the Health Benefits Program. Such events or changes include, but are not limited to, change of address or telephone number, marriage, divorce, dependent's loss of eligibility, death of the employee, or death of a dependent.
- 9. COBRA (Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985). Once an employee who has enrolled in a plan under the Health Benefits Program becomes qualified for COBRA benefits, the District shall ensure that he or she is given the opportunity to continue coverage under the Health Benefits Program pursuant to COBRA in the manner prescribed by federal law. (CalPERS does not administer payments to COBRA.)
- 10. If the internal responsibility for the administration of the Health Benefits Program is changed because responsibilities among the administrative units of the District are reorganized, notice of that change shall be given to the exclusive representatives within thirty days.
- 11. Health Care Legislation. In the event that new health care legislation is enacted and the District is required to implement a plan pursuant to such legislation, the District and the Exclusive Representatives shall consult in order to assess the effects of such legislation.
- 12. Pre-funding Retiree Health Benefits Costs. The District has established and will maintain a Trust with (CalPERS) to prefund retiree health benefit costs for all eligible fulltime employees. The Trust is funded with annual contributions to the trust of 1.92% of the total full time salary expenditures in the district. Additionally the District will direct an amount equivalent to all of the Federal Medicare Part D subsidy returned to the District each year into the trust fund. Funding from both of these sources commenced with fiscal year 2006-07. An annual Trust status report will be made to the JLMBC and to the District Budget Committee at their first meetings of the fiscal year.

49

Annual funding of the Trust from both these sources shall continue until/unless the parties agree otherwise due to changes in the healthcare landscape which make prefunding no longer necessary. Should that prove to be the case the 1.92% of the total full time salary expenditures will be placed on the salary schedules of all full time employees, effective the end of the payroll month that the decision is made to no longer fund the trust.

- **B. Group Life Insurance Program.** The District's group term life insurance program shall be continued for the duration of this Agreement subject to modification based on the recommendations of the Joint Labor Management Benefits Committee and approval of the Board.
 - 1. All active employees eligible for benefits under Section I.A.1 of this Agreement shall be eligible for group term life insurance benefits under the program.
 - 2. The limits of coverage under the program shall be \$50,000, however, employees age 70 or above shall receive coverage equal to an amount equal to the greater of the minimum amount required by Federal Law or 50% of the amount in force immediately prior to his or her 70th birthday. This reduction shall take place on the premium date coincident with or immediately following his or her 70th birthday.
- C. Employee Assistance Program/ Wellness Services. The District shall make available to all active employees (including those who are not eligible for benefits under Section I.A.1 of this Agreement) employee assistance and wellness services. The services shall help employees deal with problems that might adversely impact their work performance, health, and well-being and shall include assessment, short-term counseling, informational resources and referral services. Such services hold the same level of privacy/confidentiality as other medical services. Modification to the employee assistance and wellness services may be recommended by the Joint Labor Management Benefits Committee to the Board of Trustees.
- **D. Tax Sheltered Retirement Plans.** The District shall continue its voluntary salary reduction agreement program under which employees may contribute to tax sheltered retirement plans under Internal Revenue Code Sections 403(b) and 457. The process for selecting third-party administrators (TPAs) for these plans shall include the issuance of a formal request for proposals by the District, review of the responses by a task group consisting of representatives of the District and the Exclusive Representatives, and selection of TPAs based on the recommendation of the task group.

A list of the 403b vendors and enrollment forms available through our District can be found at www.403bcompare.com, or via a link on the District's web site.

E. Health Reimbursement Arrangements (HRAs). The District shall continue its HRAs under IRC Section 105 for eligible, benefited active employees and early retirees (under age 65). The District's contributions will be \$1500 for the 2012, 2013, and 2014 2015 and 2016 plan years. The process for selecting a TPA for these HRAs shall include the issuance of a formal request for proposals by the District, review of the responses by a task group consisting of representatives of the District and the Exclusive Representatives, and selection of a TPA based on the recommendation of the task group.

- **F. IRC 125 and 129 Plans (Flexible Spending Accounts).** The District shall continue its voluntary Flexible Spending Account (FSA) plan covering medical and dependent care expenses under Internal Revenue Code Sections 125 and 129. The process for selecting a TPA for FSAs shall include the issuance of a formal request for proposals by the District, review of the responses by a task group consisting of representatives of the District and the Exclusive Representatives, and selection of a TPA based on the recommendation of the task group.
- **G.** Ordering Rules for HRAs and Medical FSAs. Employees shall be informed at the time of enrollment that *amounts available under an HRA must be exhausted before reimbursements may be made from the medical FSA.*

II. Health Benefits Program for Part-time Temporary Adjunct Faculty² and Temporary Adjunct Faculty

The District shall provide eligible part-time temporary faculty and temporary adjunct faculty members access to its hospital/medical, vision and dental group coverage plans as provided in this Section beginning in Plan Year 2006. Access to the District life insurance plan is not included. When an employee is eligible, he or she will have access via the District's Contribution and Premium Only Plan (see. Section II. A. below).

A. District Contribution and Premium Only Plan

1. Eligibility. A part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty member is eligible to receive access to the CalPERS hospital/medical group coverage, except the District life insurance plan, under this section if he or she has been assigned and working as a part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty member in the District and meets the eligibility requirements below (including, by virtue of his or her participation in the POP, in subsection 'e' below, he or she is deemed to effectively be in a position lasting greater than six months as required by CalPERS' resolutions, AND, he or she is a members of the CALSTRS DB or CB retirement plans or the CalPERS retirement plan or the PARS, but not Social Security). Dependent Eligibility is the same as indicated in Section I A 2.

Specific Eligibility Requirements for the POP:

a. Be assigned to a .33 (or higher) FTE temporary (limited or long term substitute) or adjunct faculty load in the District to count towards eligibility for this plan.

b. Open but inactive assignments - no work, no pay - do not constitute employment in this context.

51

² This refers to those part-time temporary faculty who are employed less than half time in one or more monthly rate assignments. Faculty serving in a .50 (or higher) FTE temporary monthly rate assignment as a limited or long term substitute instructor are eligible for full benefits for the duration of that assignment and should refer to Section I of this Agreement regarding their eligibility requirements.

- **c.** Have completed at least a .2 FTE part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty position in the District during three or more semesters out of the previous eight consecutive semesters.
- d. Participate in the District's "premium only plan" (POP) under the terms of Internal Revenue Code Section 125, so that the employee's contribution to the District sponsored hospital/medical, vision, and dental group plans will be deducted, pre-tax, from salary warrants. The amount of the employee's contribution toward the premiums, for the hospital/medical plans, along with any possible premiums for vision, and dental group plans paid for by the employee, must not exceed his or her net take home pay each month, otherwise the employee is not eligible to participate in or continue to participate in the POP.
- e. District Contribution. If criteria a-d above are met, the District, for plan year 2012, will contribute as follows:

Medical: \$220 toward the total monthly cost of the part time temporary faculty member's or temporary adjunct faculty member's medical premium only. For plan years 2013 and 20142015, 2016 and 2017, the District's monthly contribution will be an amount equal to 50% of the mathematical average of the single-party monthly premiums for the five Los Angeles area medical plans most utilized medical plans for the Los Angeles area offered by CalPERS excluding PERSCare PPO. Beginning in plan year 2015, the District's monthly contribution in the new plan years 2015, 2016 and 2017 shall not exceed 110% of the prior year. The District's monthly contribution in plan year 2013 shall not exceed 110% of the 2012 amount and in plan year 2014 shall not exceed 110% of the 2013 amount. The District's contribution may be used toward the total monthly cost of the part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty member's individual, two-party or family medical premium only.

Vision: In addition to being eligible for the above medical benefits, a temporary adjunct faculty member who satisfies the criteria in II.A.1.a-d and, further, who is assigned to a .50 or higher FTE temporary adjunct faculty load in the District is eligible for a District contribution towards vision care benefits. For plan year 2012, the District will pay the full amount of the VSP single-party premium, for each eligible temporary adjunct faculty member. For plan years 2013 and 2014, the District's contribution will be equal to the VSP single party premium for the respective plan year but shall not exceed 110% of the prior year's contribution. The District will pay the full amount of the VSP single-party premium, for each eligible temporary adjunct faculty member. For plan years 2015, 2016 and 2017, the District's contribution will be equal to the VSP single-party premium for the respective plan year but shall not exceed 110% of the prior year's contribution. If the District's contribution does not fully pay for the required monthly premium, the balance shall be paid by the participating adjunct faculty member as a condition of receiving the District's contribution towards the vision benefit.

Dental: In addition to being eligible for the above medical and vision benefits, a part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty member who satisfies the criteria in II.A.1.a-d ean participate in the District sponsored dental benefits, but will be responsible for all costs associate with dental benefits, and,

further, who is assigned to a .50 or higher FTE temporary adjunct faculty load in the District is eligible for a District contribution towards dental benefits. The District will pay 50% of the full amount of the dental single-party premium, for each eligible temporary adjunct faculty member. For plan years 2015, 2016 and 2017, the District's contribution will be 50% of the full amount of the dental single-party premium for the respective plan year but shall not exceed 110% of the prior year's contribution. If the District's contribution does not fully pay for the required monthly premium, the balance shall be paid by the participating adjunct faculty member as a condition of receiving the District's contribution towards the dental benefit.

- f. Term and Conditions of Coverage. A part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty member who was eligible for coverage and who has prepaid the premium(s) via the POP for the entire Spring and Fall semesters of any plan year shall remain eligible for coverage during the time between the end of that Spring semester and the beginning of the subsequent Fall semester contingent upon verification of continued eligibility. The premium payments shall equate to twelve months coverage and shall be deducted from ten monthly pay periods for each twelve-month coverage period.
- g. Enrollment. Eligible employees may enroll at each 6-month cycle but an employee who becomes ineligible cannot reenroll until the start of the next annual cycle unless a qualifying event occurs which falls under the conditions set by the IRC 125 plan year rules. (See Plan Description Los Angeles Community College District Temporary Faculty Member Premium-Only Plan, Article II, section 4.3 and section II A.2 d below.) The District will conduct limited "open enrollment" periods in August and in January for adjuncts who become eligible for the POP.
- **h.** If any provision herein regarding the POP conflicts with the Internal Revenue Code, the latter will prevail and the conflicting provision will be nullified.

2. Premiums.

- a. To receive medical or vision plan coverage under this agreement, an eligible part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty member must, in advance and in accordance with applicable District procedures, agree to participate in the POP for a period of a plan year, contingent upon verification of continued eligibility, and pay the balance of the premium, minus the District contribution (if any) as defined in section II.A.1.e of this article, towards the required premium.
- **b.** To participate in the District's dental plans, the eligible part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty member will agree to participate in the POP and pay all of the premium(s). The participant agrees that premiums will be deducted, pre-tax, from his or her monthly salary warrants as described in Section II.A.1.e above.
- c. A part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjunct faculty member's coverage (with a District contribution) shall cease immediately upon his or her failure to pay the balance of the required insurance premium(s) in accordance with District procedures. The faculty member's deductions for the required

- payments will be made for the last working day of each month preceding the month in which coverage will be effective.
- **d.** The District will conduct limited "open enrollment" periods in August and in January for part-time temporary faculty member or temporary adjuncts.
- **3. Extension of Coverage.** Any extension of coverage, at the adjunct faculty member's own expense, subsequent to termination (non-retirement) of employment with the District, shall be in accordance with applicable state and/or federal law.
- **4.** Colleges will make every effort to report information regarding adjunct faculty assignments to the District's Benefits Section by the deadline for enrollment. If an eligible adjunct is denied coverage in error, the District will cover its portion of the premium costs retroactive to the date of the adjunct's eligibility up to the start of the plan year.

B. Health Benefits for Part-time Temporary Faculty Retirees & Temporary Adjunct Faculty Retirees under CalPERS Heath Care Plans.

- 1. Eligible part-time temporary faculty retirees & temporary adjunct retirees and their eligible dependents and survivors, not otherwise eligible for District-paid retiree health benefit coverage shall have the right to participate in the CalPERS Health Care Program available to them as active part-time employees, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and CalPERS resolutions. Nothing in this Agreement, however, shall be construed as conveying any vested right to any particular plan, plan design, or plan component. The terms of the CalPERS Health Care Program, as well as the plans available under the Program, remain subject to alteration by action of CalPERS, the JLMBC or any future agreement between the District and its Exclusive Representatives.
- 2. A part-time faculty retiree who continues to be employed in active service for the district is eligible for the district health premium contribution detailed in II.A.1.e as long as he/she continues to meet the eligibility criteria for health benefits coverage as specified in II.A.1.a-d and is not eligible for District coverage under a different status. An eligible part-time faculty retiree is one who has retired from District service under the rules of the California State Teachers Retirement System (CalSTRS) DB or CB plans, the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS), or the Public Agency Retirement System (PARS) and who is receiving a retirement allowance from that system, and who will have rendered "paid service" to the District in a "qualifying position" for thirty five or more years immediately preceding his or her retirement.

For the purposes of this section, a "qualifying position" is any position that made the employee eligible to enroll in plans under this Section (II). A year of "paid service" is attained by having had any faculty assignment in the District for two (primary fall and spring) semesters.

III. Health Benefits for Retire	ees (retiring from a	"qualifying position"	'§), their Dependents
and Survivors			

_

[§] See section III B.

- A. Hospital-Medical, Dental and Vision Benefits. Eligible retirees and their eligible dependents and survivors shall have the right to continue their participation in the Health Benefits plans available to active employees, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement, however, shall be construed as conveying any vested right to any particular plan, plan design, or plan component. The terms of the District's Health Benefits Program (CalPERS Health Care Program), as well as the plans available under the Program, remain subject to alteration by action of CalPERS, the Joint Labor/Management Benefits Committee or any future agreement between the District and its Exclusive Representatives.
- **B.** Eligibility. A retiree who is eligible to continue his or her participation in the health benefits plans which are available to active employees is one who has retired from District service under the rules of the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) or the California State Teachers Retirement System (CalSTRS), who is receiving a retirement allowance from that system, and who:
 - 1. —for employees whose most recent uninterrupted District employment began before February 11, 1992—has rendered continuous paid service to the District in a "qualifying position" for three or more years immediately preceding his or her retirement; and—for employees whose most recent uninterrupted District Employment began before July 1, 1998—has rendered continuous paid service to the District in a "qualifying position" for seven or more years immediately preceding his or her retirement; or
 - 2. —for employees whose most recent uninterrupted District employment began on or after July 1, 1998—has rendered continuous paid service to the District in a "qualifying position" for ten or more years immediately preceding his or her retirement.

For the purposes of this section, a "qualifying position" is any position that made the employee eligible to enroll in plans under Section I above (See section III F for district contribution toward premiums.)

An individual shall be deemed to have "retired from District service" if the effective date of his or her retirement under CalPERS or CalSTRS is no later than 120 days after his or her resignation from District employment. Retirees do not have to be enrolled in health benefits at the time of their retirement; they just need to have been eligible as indicated above.

Employees who have been assigned in a specially funded program (SFP) shall vest in the retiree benefits provided they meet the eligibility requirements in III B 1. or 2. above.

In addition, no absence from the service of the District under any paid leave of absence, or any unpaid leave of absence, or layoff of thirty-nine (39) months or less, shall be deemed a break in the continuity of service required by this section.

- **C. Dependents and Survivors.** To qualify as a dependent or survivor who is eligible to continue his or her participation in the hospital and medical plans available to active employees—
 - 1. A dependent or survivor must be an eligible retiree's:

- **a.** spouse. A spouse married anytime less one year before retirement only qualifies as a survivor to continue to receive health benefits if the retiree left a survivor's allowance under CalPERS or CalSTRS at the time of retirement.
- **b.** qualified domestic partner as specified in Appendix I, on the date of retirement from District service:
- **c.** child (natural, adopted, foster, domestic partner children, or stepchildren) up to age 26 (coverage will terminate at the end of the month in which dependent turns age 26); or
- **d.** a child up to age 26 (not otherwise eligible under subsection 1.c, above) who is *economically dependent* upon the retiree (as being claimed as dependents on the retiree's federal income tax returns) and for whom the retiree must have been granted legal or joint legal custody, or, in the absence of natural or adoptive parents, the child resides with the retiree; or
- **e.** a *disabled* child (not otherwise eligible under subsection 1.c or 1.d, above), without regard to age, who is physically or mentally incapacitated (and therefore incapable of self support), and who is being claimed as a dependents on the retiree's federal income tax returns. The mental or physical condition must have existed prior to age 26 and continuously since age 26.

-and-

- **2.** a dependent may not be enrolled in any plans other than those under which the retiree is covered.
- **D.** Limitations on Survivor Eligibility. A survivor's eligibility to continue his or her participation in the Health Benefits Program depends on whether he or she is an annuitant under the employee's retirement system. The eligibility of a surviving child receiving a survivor's benefit continues until the end of the month in which he or she turns age 26.
- **E. Enrollment.** Enrollment and re-enrollment in plans shall be administered as follows:
 - 1. Initial Enrollment. Upon retirement, each new retiree who is eligible to enroll in plans under the Health Benefits Program shall receive uninterrupted coverage under the plan in which he or she was enrolled as an active employee, provided the employee submits all necessary applications and other required documentation in a timely fashion.
 - 2. Open Enrollment. There shall be an open enrollment period each enrollment year during which eligible retirees may change plans. The CalPERS Health Care Program shall establish and announce the dates of such open enrollment period. If an eligible retiree requests a change of plan, he or she shall continue to be covered under his or her existing plan until coverage under the new plan can be instituted.
 - **3.** Changes in Enrollment Other Than During Open Enrollment. Once enrolled in a plan, retirees are generally barred from changing their enrollment except during an open enrollment period. Nevertheless, changes may be made under the following circumstances:

- a. Any retiree who is enrolled in a closed panel plan and who changes his or her permanent residence to a location that is outside the service area of the plan may, by submitting a timely application to CalPERS via the District, change his or her enrollment to a plan that provides service in the area of his or her new permanent residence. To be timely, the application for a change in enrollment must be received by CalPERS via the District within ninety (90) days after the retiree established his or her new permanent residence.
- **b.** Any retiree whose enrollment in a plan is terminated at the request or option of the plan provider for any reason other than non-payment of premium may enroll in another plan by submitting a timely application to the District. To be timely, the application for a change in enrollment must be received by CalPERS via the District within ninety (90) days after the retiree's enrollment was terminated.
- 4. Mandatory Re-enrollment During Open Enrollment. Upon recommendation of the JLMBC the District may designate any open enrollment period as a mandatory enrollment period during which every eligible retiree or survivor must re-enroll for himself or herself and for each of his or her eligible dependents. If a retiree or survivor fails to re-enroll during any such mandatory enrollment period, his or her enrollment in hospital, medical, dental, and vision care plans shall end at the beginning of the next plan year. In that event, a retiree or survivor (and his or her eligible dependents) may, if he or she remains eligible, re-enroll in plans. The retiree or survivor may re-enroll in plans at any time and the District shall verify his or her eligibility to CalPERS so that it can process the retiree's or survivor's re-enrollment forms as if they were initial enrollment forms—i.e. if CalPERS, via the District, receives the re-enrollment forms at anytime during the calendar month, it shall process them so as to make coverage effective on the first day of the calendar month following receipt of the forms.
- **F. District Contribution Towards Premiums.** The District shall contribute towards the premium costs of the plans in which an eligible retiree and his or her eligible dependents and survivors are enrolled as follows:
 - 1. For retirees (and their eligible dependents and survivors) who became eligible under Section III.B.1, the District will pay 100% of the District's contribution towards premiums.
 - **2.** For retirees (and their eligible dependents and survivors) who became eligible under Section III.B.2, the district will contribute toward premiums for retirees in a "qualifying position" as follows:

% of District Contribution Toward	Years of Service Rendered
<u>Premium</u>	
50%	 At least ten years but fewer than fifteen years.
75%	 At least fifteen years but fewer than twenty years.
100%	At least twenty years.

G. Conditions of and Limitations on Eligibility and Coverage.

- 1. Active employees who become eligible retirees under this agreement are entitled to uninterrupted coverage under the Health Benefits Program provided they submit all necessary applications and other required documentation in a timely fashion.
- **2. Dual Coverage**. Retirees, their dependents, and survivors may not be enrolled in more than one <u>CalPERS</u> sponsored plan at any one time. For that reason, a retiree may be enrolled in a plan in his or her own capacity as a retiree, or as a dependent of another retiree, but not simultaneously in one plan as a retiree and in another plan as a dependent.
- 3. **Split Enrollment.** Children or other individuals who qualify as dependents may be enrolled in a plan only once as a dependent or survivor, not simultaneously in one plan as a dependent or survivor of one retiree and in another plan as a dependent or survivor of another retiree.
- 4. To the extent allowed by law, benefits provided under the District's Health Benefits Program shall be secondary to the benefits provided to a retiree or his or her dependents or survivors under Medicare. Furthermore, as a condition of continued enrollment in any hospital or medical plan available under the Health Benefits Program, each retiree and every eligible dependent and survivor age 65 and older must (unless exempted from this requirement under Board Rule 101701.16C) apply for and obtain coverage under Part A (hospital benefits)—either paid or premium free—and Part B (medical benefits) of Medicare. It shall be the sole responsibility of the employee or survivor to provide the District with verification of enrollment in Medicare. The District shall acknowledge receipt of verification of Medicare enrollment upon a retiree's request.
- 5. Every retiree (or in the event of his or her incapacity, the retiree's representative or agent) shall report, by telephone, e-mail, or written correspondence, any event or change of circumstance that has an effect on the administration of coverage under the Health Benefits Program. Such events or changes include, but are not limited to, change of address or telephone number, marriage, divorce, dependent's loss of eligibility, death of the retiree, or death of a dependent.
- **6.** A retiree's or survivor's eligibility (and that of his or her dependents) under this agreement shall terminate whenever the retiree or survivor accepts employment in a position covered by CalSTRS or CalPERS and becomes eligible for health benefits by virtue of that employment.

IV. Joint Labor/Management Benefits Committee

- **A.** The District shall convene, and the Exclusive Representatives shall all participate in, a Joint Labor/Management Benefits Committee (JLMBC). The role of the Committee is to contain the costs of the District's Health Benefits Program while maintaining and, when feasible, improving the quality of the benefits available to employees.
- **B.** The Committee shall be composed as follows:

District: one voting and one non-voting District Member appointed by the Chancellor (If one member is absent, the member present shall be the voting member);

Employees: six Employee Members, one appointed by each of the Exclusive Representatives (If the one member from any unit is absent, a substitute member from the unit who is present shall be the voting member);

Committee Chair: an additional voting faculty member who shall serve as Chair, nominated by the President of the Los Angeles College Faculty Guild and confirmed by a simple majority of the regular voting members of the Committee. The Chair shall work jointly with the management member or designee to develop the monthly JLMBC agenda. The agenda will be posted and made available to JLMBC members at least three days prior to each JLMBC meeting._The District shall grant the Chair of the Committee at least 0.2 FTE reassigned time to perform the duties of that assignment. The faculty Co-Chair may make an annual request to the District for an additional 0.2 FTE reassigned time to complete specified projects recommended by the JLMBC.

Additional Members: Although each Exclusive Representative will appoint one regular voting member on the Committee, the Committee shall adopt rules under which each Exclusive Representative may appoint additional non-voting members in proportion to the size of each unit.

C. The Committee shall have the authority to:

- review the District's Health Benefits Program and effect any changes to the program
 it deems necessary to contain costs while maintaining the quality of the benefits
 available to employees (this includes, but is not limited to, the authority to
 recommend substitution of other plans for the District's existing health benefits plans,
 including reviewing and providing input on the management of the District's
 participation in the CalPERS Health Care Plans);
- **2.** recommend the selection, replacement, and evaluation of benefits consultants when deemed necessary;
- 3. recommend the selection, replacement, and evaluation of benefit plan providers;
- **4.** review and make recommendations regarding communications to faculty and staff regarding the health benefits program and their use of health care services under it;
- 5. review and make recommendations regarding benefit booklets, descriptive literature, and enrollment forms as necessary, beyond those provided by CalPERS;
- **6.** study recurring enrollee concerns and complaints and make recommendations for their resolution;
- 7. participate in an annual review of the District's employee health benefits program, to include the CalPERS hospital/medical program, the dental and vision benefits, and EAP, wellness, HRA and FSA benefits;
- 8. review and make recommendations about the District's health benefits budget; and
- **9.** if health care legislation that necessitates modification of the District's Health Benefits Program is enacted before the termination of this agreement, assess the effects of such legislation and make recommendations to the District and the Exclusive Representatives about appropriate action to take.

- **D.** Any action of the Committee must be approved by the affirmative vote of the voting District member and all but one of the voting Employee Members at a meeting of the Committee at which a quorum is present. A quorum shall consist of the voting District member and any five-four voting Employee Members.
- **E.** Any changes proposed by the Committee in the benefit program, providers, and consultants shall be submitted to the Board of Trustees for its consideration.
- **F.** The District shall provide the Committee with relevant financial data including, for example, data regarding money received from providers (as a refund, return of premium, or similar credit), and all expenditures the District considers to be part of the "overall cost to the District of maintaining the Health Benefits Program."

V. Managing the Health Benefits Program

By September 1 of each year the JLMBC shall report to the Board of Trustees on the committee's actions and activities to mitigate increases to the cost of the Health Benefits Program so that it continues to provide quality health care to the District's employees, retirees, and their eligible dependents at a reasonable and sustainable cost to the District.

VI. JLMBC Task Force

<u>Upon ratification of the July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2017 Master Benefits Agreement, the parties agree to form a task force of the JLMBC.</u> The purpose of the task force will be to:

- 1. explore the feasibility of initiating a wellness incentive program
- 2. examine more effective policies for a health benefits program for adjunct faculty
- 3. explore opt out options for employees with dual medical coverage

The task force will release its initial findings to the JLMBC no later than December 31, 2015.

VII. Term of Agreement

This agreement shall cover the period of July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2017.

ARTICLE 17 WAGES AND SALARIES

A. Prevailing Wage

The Council and the District agree that the wages and salaries negotiated in good faith and listed in this Agreement are at least equal to the prevailing salary or wage for the same quality of service rendered to private employers under similar employment.

B. Salary Placement

Entry-level placement on the salary schedule shall be at the lowest step of the schedule for the classification or at the hourly rate established for the classification unless the District authorizes hiring at a higher rate.

C. Step Advancement on the Salary Schedule

- 1. Advancement from the first to the second step shall occur as of the first day of the pay period which follows completion of one hundred thirty (130) days in paid status in regular assignments in the class. For purposes of this rule, one hundred thirty (130) days shall be defined as one hundred thirty (130) times the average number of regularly assigned hours per day for the employee. A day in paid status shall be defined as any day for which pay is received.
- 2. Advancements to higher steps shall be made in successive years as of the first (1st) day of the correspondingly numbered pay period on which the employee received his/her previous step advancement provided that he/she has completed at least one hundred thirty (130) days in paid status in regular assignments in the class during the twelve (12) pay periods since the preceding advancement.
- 3. In the event that the employee does not meet the paid status requirement provided above, his/her step advancement shall be effective as of the first day of the pay period which follows his/her completion of such one hundred thirty (130) days in paid status in regular assignments in the class.
- 4. Upon promotion or reclassification which results in a salary increase to other than the first (1st) step, salary advancement shall be affected as follows:
 - a. If the employee completes one hundred thirty (130) days in paid status in regular assignments in the new class as of the date his/her step advancement is due, no change in his/her cycle of step advancement shall occur.
 - b. If the employee has not completed one hundred thirty (130) days in paid status in regular assignments in the new class as of the date his/her step advancement is due, it shall become effective as of the day of the pay period which follows his/her completion of the paid status requirement. A new cycle for subsequent step advancements will thus be established.
 - c. An employee who is subject to a new probationary period must spend at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the required one hundred thirty (130) days in paid status in active on-the-job performance of the duties of a position in the class.
- 5. The following actions shall not affect the employee's cycle of step advancement:
 - a. Reallocation.
 - b. Change to an equal or lower class.

- 6. Notwithstanding other provisions of this Article, employees in classes on accelerated hiring steps or with shortened salary ranges shall receive step advancement as follows:
 - a. An employee on any lower step in a class for which an accelerated hiring step or a shortened salary range has been authorized shall advance to the new hiring step on the effective date of the action. Such an employee shall receive an advancement to the next higher step of the schedule for his/her class as of the first (1st) day of the pay period in which the accelerated step or shortened range became effective, provided that he/she meets the paid status requirement.
 - b. A person initially employed in a class on an accelerated hiring step or with a shortened salary range shall advance to the-next higher-step of the schedule for his/her class on the first (1st) day of the pay period in the next salary year which corresponds in number to the pay period in which he/she was appointed, provided that he/she meets the paid status requirement. Subsequent advancements shall be based on the cycle thus established.
- 7. An employee who changes from a flat hourly rate to a rate on a salary schedule shall receive his/her initial step advancement in the class as of the first (1st) day of the pay period which follows his/her completion of one hundred thirty (130) days in paid status in regular assignments in the class following such change.
 - Subsequent advancement shall take place as of the first (1st) day of the correspondingly numbered pay period provided the paid status requirement is met.
- 8. An employee not serving in his/her regular assignment shall be treated as follows:
 - a. An employee who is temporarily serving in a limited-term assignment in an equal or higher class shall receive credit toward step advancement in his/her regular class during the period of his/her limited-term assignment, his/her step in the limited-term assignment shall not be adjusted unless an adjustment is necessary to maintain a differential over his/her current regular rate as determined by the District.
 - b. An employee who has been promoted to a regular position but returns to a lower class before completing his/her probationary period in the higher class shall receive credit toward step advancement in the lower class for the full period of his/her service in the higher class. If his/her anniversary date in the lower class has passed while he/she was serving in the higher class, he/she will receive step advancement when assigned to the lower class, provided that he/she has met the requirements of this Article. For future step advancement his/her anniversary date in the lower class will be retained.
 - c. An employee who is on leave of absence from his/her regular class in order to serve in an apprentice class shall not receive credit toward step advancement in the former class during such period of leave. If he/she returns to his/her former class upon termination of leave of absence, he/she shall be placed at the flat hourly rate of the class or at that step of the schedule which is closest to his/her current apprentice rate.

- 9. Time spent by an employee on leaves resulting from an industrial accident or an industrial illness, temporary military leave, or military leave other than temporary, shall be credited as time in paid status for purposes of step advancement.
- 10. Employees who are allowed to take vacation during periods which are excluded from their regular assignment periods shall receive credit towards step advancement for the time they are in paid status during such periods.
- 11. Nothing in this Article shall prevent the Board of Trustees from granting or withholding step advancement.

D. For 2011-20122014-2017

Effective at the beginning of the July 2011 monthly pay period, the District shall agree to implement the same percentage general increase to wages and differentials that may be granted to other bargaining units during the negotiation of the 2011–2014 successor agreement.

District and Council agree to a three-year salary agreement: 2014-2015, 2015-2016 and 2016-2017. Effective July 1 of each year (2014, 2015, and 2016), the augmentation of all elements of the Council's salary schedule will be determined using the following three-part formula:

Part I: The State-approved COLA applied to all of the elements of the Council salary schedule, plus

Part II: A 2% salary increase, plus

Part III: A proportionate share of 30% of any new and ongoing computed State General Revenue above the state funded base revenue and COLA as stated in the State Budget signed by the Governor as of July 1, 2014, 2015 and 2016.

District and Council agree that before the salary augmentation formula is implemented, a 10% reserve must be identified by June 30 of each year (2014, 2015 and 2016).

Appendix G describes the process the parties agree to use to determine the 10% reserve.

¹For the purpose of this Agreement, the phrase, "proportionate share" is defined as that portion of the unrestricted general fund total salaries applied to the Council's salaries.

²Excludes all Restricted Funds, categorical funds and all other one-time funds.

E. For 2012-2013 (empty).

The District and the Union shall reopen negotiations on salary for 2012 2013.

F. For 2013-2014(empty)

The District and the Union shall reopen negotiations on salary for 2013-2014.

G. Rates of pay for any new classifications implemented during the term of this Agreement shall be determined by the District.

Formatted: Normal (Web), Adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and numbers, Pattern: Clear (White)

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0"

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0"

H. Special Pay Practices - Claims for work out of classification shall be processed in accordance with Personnel Commission Rule 550.

I. Shift Differential

- 1. All employees covered by this Agreement, except those classifications enumerated in Article 10, Section B.7. shall receive a six and nine-tenths percent (6.9%) shift differential for each day that fifty percent (50%) of their shift falls within the hours of three (3:00) p.m. to twelve (12:00) midnight and a thirteen and eight-tenths percent (13.8%) shift differential for each day that fifty percent (50%) of their shift falls within the hours of twelve (12:00) midnight to seven (7:00) a.m. An employee receiving a shift differential shall not be paid the differential if reassigned to a shift not qualifying for such payment.
- 2. Persons assigned to night work on a continuous basis who are nevertheless ordered to temporary daytime work for periods of not to exceed twenty (20) working days each shall suffer no reduction in compensation by reason of the change.

J. Career Differentials

- 1. Employees will be granted the differential as of July 1 each year. Continuation or granting of the differential will be based on an evaluation of satisfactory service during the immediately preceding year. Satisfactory service is defined for the purpose of this article to mean that no Notice of Unsatisfactory Service was issued during the evaluation year. In the event that a Notice of Unsatisfactory Service is being grieved, the decision to grant or deny the differential will be made after the outcome of the grievance is known.
- 2. The differential will be paid as follows (as of the beginning of the pay period following the pay period in which this Agreement is approved by the parties):

Career Differential Rates—Years of Service-Semi-Monthly Rates*

CW1 CC1 2 111 C1 C11 C11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	10015 01 501 1100 5011	1.1011111 111110
Years of Service	12-Month Employee	10-Month Employee
7 to 9	\$ 16.13 <u>17.28</u>	\$ 14.98 <u>16.05</u>
10 to 14	\$ 31.69 <u>33.96</u>	\$ 29.38 <u>31.48</u>
15 to 19	\$ 47.83 <u>51.25</u>	\$ 44.37 <u>47.55</u>
20 or more	\$ 63.40 67.94	\$ 58.79 63.00

3. Years of service shall be defined the same as in Article 12, Vacation

K. Bilingual Pay

Employees covered by this Agreement who are required to speak, read, and write a foreign language shall be compensated as shown below if they are required to speak a foreign language. In order to qualify for one of these differentials, the employee must meet all the requirements of Personnel Commission Rule 588.

Bilingual Pay Compensation—Semi-Monthly Rates*		
	12-Month Employee	10-Month Employee

Speak, Read and Write	\$ 14.42 <u>15.45</u>	\$ 13.25 <u>14.20</u>
Speak Only	\$ 10.66 11.42	\$ 9.80 10.50

L. Semi-Monthly Pay

The classifications assigned to the Crafts Unit shall receive pay on a semi-monthly basis in accordance with the District procedures.

M. Computing Differential

1. The certification required as a prerequisite for eligibility to receive the monthly computing differential (\$47.0050.37 semi-monthly for 12_-month employees, \$43.2246.32 for 10-month employees) shall be:

The Microsoft Office User Specialist ("MOS") certification shall be valid for three (3) years from the date of issuance.

- 2. To renew eligibility for the computing differential after three (3) years, an employee must present proof of having successfully tested for and received the most current MOS certification that exists at the time of retesting. If the employee provides documentation that there is not a more current certification than the one that the employee already possesses, then that certification shall remain valid for purposes of the computing differential, on a year-to-year basis, until a new certification is offered by Microsoft.
- 3. Differentials shall become effective the pay period following the pay period in which the employee presents proof of the appropriate Microsoft certification to the District.

N. Degree (Education) Differential

Employees with degrees above the highest job specifications for their classification/position shall be eligible for only one of the following differentials (i.e. the highest degree attained over what is required for the classification):

Degree (Education) Differential—Semi-Monthly Rates*

Degree	12-Month Employee	10-Month Employee
AA/AS Degree	\$ 12.54 <u>13.44</u>	\$ 11.52 12.35
BA/BS Degree	\$ 18.81 20.15	\$ 17.28 18.52
MA/MS Degree	\$ 25.08 26.87	\$ 23.06 24.71

In order for a Crafts Unit employee to be eligible for a degree differential, he/she must present the District with evidence of an earned degree from an accredited institution of higher education. Such evidence shall be in the form of an official transcript sent directly to the District by the institution which awarded the degree or an official sealed transcript provided by the employee. A foreign degree must be determined to be equivalent to a U.S. degree by an accrediting agency approved by the District. It is the responsibility of the employee to arrange for such evaluation and to provide such verification of equivalency to the District. Employees shall be eligible for the differential the pay period following the receipt of proof of the degree.

*NOTE: For employees paid semi-monthly, increments are paid in two installments, one-half in each paycheck.

ARTICLE 18 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. Grievance Defined

A grievance is defined as a formal written complaint by an aggrieved permanent employee(s) that there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of a specific provision(s) of this Agreement or of a written rule, regulation or procedure of the Los Angeles Community College District and/or applicable rules of the Personnel Commission. (See appendices for grievance form.)

B. Matters Excluded

All other matters and disputes of any nature are beyond the scope of this grievance procedure including but not limited to reduction in force; examination procedures, results and references; performance evaluations; disciplinary matters; and complaints by one employee about another. Also excluded are those matters so indicated elsewhere in this Agreement which personally and adversely affects the aggrieved employee.

C. Definitions

- 1. Grievant. A permanent employee covered by the terms of this Agreement.
- 2. Group Grievances. Should the District feel that the significant characteristics of a number of individual grievances or potential grievances are sufficiently alike, that it would be in the best interest of time to hear this group of grievances as one, it may do so under this procedure. Such consolidated grievance shall be carried through the procedure by one designated grievant.
- 3. <u>Day.</u> A day, for the purposes of this Article, is defined as any day of the calendar year, except Saturdays, Sundays, and legal (or school) holiday.
- 4. <u>Division Head</u>. A management employee assigned the administrative responsibilities for a division in the District Office.
- 5. <u>Management Employee</u>. Any employee designated by the Board of Trustees as management, consistent with the provisions of Government Code 3540 et seq.

D. General Provisions

- 1. Council Responsibilities
 - a. No Council representative, shop steward, or Council official may solicit grievances either formally or informally.

- b. The Council agrees to encourage the grievant to discuss his/her complaint with his/her immediate supervisor or the appropriate immediate supervisor with authority to adjust the grievance.
- 2. Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant should attempt to resolve it in an informal manner with the appropriate immediate supervisor.
- 3. At all grievance meetings under this Article, the grievant shall be entitled to be accompanied and/or represented by a Council representative. A grievant shall also be entitled to represent him or herself. The supervisor and/or administrator shall have the right to be accompanied by another supervisor and/or administrator and/or District representative. By mutual agreement, other persons such as witnesses may also attend grievance meetings.

E. Released Time for Employees and Council Representatives

Grievance meetings and hearings will be scheduled by the District whenever possible during non-working hours of the grievant. If a grievance meeting or hearing is scheduled during working hours, reasonable employee released time including necessary travel time without loss of salary will be provided the grievant.

F. Effect of Time Limits

If a grievance is not processed by the grievant at any step in accordance with the time limits of this Article, it shall be deemed withdrawn. If the District fails to respond to the grievance in a timely manner at any step, the running of its time limit shall be deemed a denial of the grievance, and the grievant may proceed to the next step. All time limits and grievance steps may be shortened, extended or waived, but only by mutual written agreement.

- **G.** The respondent in any grievance shall be the District or individual campus, as appropriate, rather than any individual supervisor or management employee.
- **H.** The filing or pendency of a grievance shall not delay or interfere with implementation of any District action during the processing thereof, unless the parties agree to the contrary.
- I. Processing and discussing the merits of a grievance shall not be considered a waiver by the District or the defense that the matter is neither grievable nor subject to arbitration under this Agreement or that the grievance should be denied for other reasons which do not go to the merits

J. Procedure

1. Step One

a. Within twenty (20) days after any specific or documented incident upon which the grievance is based, the grievance must be presented in writing on a District's grievance form to the immediate supervisor who has the authority to adjust the

grievance. The written grievance shall contain a clear, concise statement of the action(s) taken by the immediate supervisor or management employee, which resulted in the violation of a specific provision of the Agreement; the remedy sought; the specific provision(s) of the Agreement violated; and the name of the employee's representative, if any.

b. A meeting between the grievant and the immediate supervisor shall take place within five (5) days from the presentation of the grievance. The immediate supervisor or his/her designee shall reply in writing within ten (10) days following the meeting. Unless there is written agreement to the contrary, step one shall terminate at the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the Step One meeting.

2. Step Two

If the grievance is not resolved in Step One, the grievant may, within five (5) days after the receipt of the immediate supervisor's written decision, present the written grievance to the next level of authority or his/her designee. The written grievance shall contain the same information as in Step One and a copy of the immediate supervisor's decision. Within five (5) days from receipt of the grievance, a meeting shall take place to discuss the matter. The next level of authority or his/her designee shall reply in writing within ten (10) days following the meeting. Unless there is written agreement to the contrary, step two shall terminate at the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the Step Two meeting.

3. Step Three

If the grievance is not resolved in Step Two, the grievant may within five (5) days after receipt of the decision in Step Two, present the written grievance to the College President or division head or his/her designee. The written grievance shall contain the same information as in Step One, copies of the Step One and Step Two decisions, and reasons for the appeal. Within five (5) days of receipt of the grievance appeal, a meeting shall take place to discuss the matter. The College President or division head or his/her designee shall reply in writing within ten (10) days following the meeting. Unless there is written agreement to the contrary, Step Three shall terminate at the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the Step Three meeting.

4. Step Four

- a. If the grievance is not resolved at Step Three, the Council shall have fifteen (15) days from receipt of the decision in Step Three to file a written request to the Office of Employer Employee Relations for a hearing.
- b. Within twenty (20) days after receipt of the appeal, the Office of Employer Employee Relations shall arrange for the joint selection of a hearing officer. He/she may be a District employee or a hearing officer not employed by the District. If a hearing officer cannot be mutually agreed to, the services of a hearing officer shall be selected from a permanent panel of twelve (12) arbitrators submitted by the American Arbitration Association. Beginning with the District, each party shall alternately

strike a name from the panel until there is one (1) name remaining. The remaining name shall serve as the hearing officer for the grievance. For the term of the 2005-2008 agreement, the District and the Council agree to retain the list of arbitrators submitted by the American Arbitration Association during the term of the predecessor agreement. The parties may agree to select an arbitrator from a source other than the above-mentioned list.

K. Optional Preliminary Hearing on Issues Which do not Involve Merits of Grievance

If the District claims that the grievance should be dismissed for reasons which do not go to the merits (e.g., mootness, untimeliness, matter beyond the scope of procedure, or breach of confidentiality), the District may cause its claim to be heard and ruled upon by the arbitrator prior to a hearing on the merits. If the District plans to invoke this separate preliminary hearing, it shall so advise the Council in writing prior to selection of the arbitrator. Immediately after selection of the arbitrator for the preliminary hearing, either the Council or the District may require that a different arbitrator be selected to hear the merits in the event that such a hearing is required. The preliminary hearing is optional to the District and if not utilized, the District shall not be precluded from raising its arbitrability defense at the regular hearing; provided that it gives the Council ten (10) days' notice of its intention to do so.

L. Limitations Upon the Arbitrator

- 1. The hearing officer shall have no power to add to, subtract from, disregard, alter, or modify any of the terms of this Agreement. The hearing officer's decision shall be limited to a specific finding regarding the alleged violation of a specific term of this Agreement. The hearing officer shall have no authority to recommend a monetary award. Past practice of the parties in interpreting and applying the terms of this Agreement may be relevant evidence, but shall not be used so as to justify or result in what is, in effect, a modification (whether by revision, addition, or detraction) of the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no power to render an award on any grievance occurring before or after the term of this Agreement or to grant a remedy exceeding that sought by the grievant. Grievances arising prior to this Agreement are to be handled pursuant to applicable grievance procedures which were in effect prior to this Agreement.
- 2. The hearing shall be conducted in accordance with the rules and procedures prescribed in Section 11513 of the Government Code of the State of California. No other Section of the State Administrative Procedure Act shall apply to this grievance procedure. The hearing shall be private with attendance limited to the parties to the grievance and their representative, if any, witnesses while testifying, and representatives of the Office of Employer Employee Relations.
- 3. The hearing officer shall render written findings, conclusions, and recommendations within thirty (30) days of the termination of the hearing. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations shall be sent to the parties concerned, the Council, and the Board of Trustees.
- 4. The decision of the Hearing Officer shall be final and it shall constitute the final administrative remedy available to the grievant.

M. Expenses

The District and the grievant shall share equally the payment of the services and expenses of the arbitrator(s). Each party shall bear the expenses of the presentation of its own case. A transcript of proceedings shall not be required, but either party may order a transcript at its own expense.

ARTICLE 19 CONSULTATION FOR JOB SPECIFICATIONS

The District will meet with the Council or its credentialed representatives for the sole purpose of consultation when changing or revising Council job specifications. It is understood and agreed that changes or revisions in job specifications will be accomplished in accordance with established District rules and procedures.

When revised or new certification or licensing requirements are proposed by the District, the District agrees to meet and confer with representatives from the appropriate crafts union and Council on the implementation timeline and details, costs associated with obtaining required training and/or certification/licensing fees, and possible additional compensation for the skill or service to be newly rendered to the District.

ARTICLE 20 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT

- A. The Los Angeles Community College District shall establish a fund of seven thousand dollars (\$7,000) for the purpose of professional development. Members of the Crafts Unit may receive tuition reimbursement in accordance with the following requirements:
 - 1. A maximum of one thousand dollars (\$1,000) not to exceed fifty percent (50%) of the tuition in any one (1) academic year. Any tuition expenses incurred while attending a Los Angeles Community College District facility or Union Training Trust facility shall be reimbursed at one hundred percent (100%) within the conditions set by the District.
 - Tuition reimbursement shall be processed upon submission of evidence of successful completion of courses taken. This evidence shall be submitted by the employee to the Human Resources Division.
 - 3. Tuition reimbursement shall be made for a course, workshop, institute or other organized activity in any of the following areas:
 - a. The unit member's classification.
 - b. A related class.
 - 4. Courses, workshops, institutes, or other organized activities must be taken at an accredited institution. Exceptions may be made for courses, workshops, or other

- organized activities offered by recognized business, industry, governmental, professional, and occupational organizations or associations.
- 5. A request for reimbursement for professional growth must be submitted to the Committee on Tuition Reimbursement prior to enrollment and approved by the same committee.
- 6. The total amount encumbered for tuition reimbursement shall not exceed seven thousand dollars (\$7,000).

ARTICLE 21 SAFETY

- A. The District, the Union, and the employees agree to comply with all applicable state and federal regulations, including the California Occupational Safety and Health Act (CAL/OSHA) in regards to safe and healthful working conditions.
- B. The Union agrees that all unit employees shall comply with all safety rules and regulations. Further, the Union agrees that all employees shall utilize safe working procedures and that safety hazards and unsafe conditions be reported to their immediate supervisor. The District agrees to maintain a safe and healthful work place for employees.
- C. If requested by a CAL/OSHA representative, the District will grant District time to an employee to accompany the CAL/OSHA representative and/or management representative conducting an on-site safety inspection.
- D. No employee will be discriminated against in any way for reporting a real or potentially unsafe condition.
- E. Employees who are exposed to foot-injury or slip hazards in the course of their work shall wear safety shoes or boots at all times on the job. District shall reimburse each such employee, up to \$100 once per year, for the cost of such footwear, provided the employee submits a receipt for the purchase of the footwear within sixty (60) days of the purchase. A safety shoe is defined as any closed-toe, non-slip shoe or boot designated as safety footwear by its manufacturer.

ARTICLE 22 PERSONNEL FILES

A. Files

1. Employees covered by this Agreement shall be provided a copy of all adverse written material, prior to or at the time they are placed in his/her personnel file. Employees shall have the right to sign or initial any such adverse material and prepare a written response which shall be attached to the material. A personnel file will mean the personnel file compiled on an employee and maintained in the Human Resources Division or at the work site. A supervisor's personal notes shall not be considered a part of the personnel file. Employees shall have the right at any reasonable time to inspect their personnel file,

provided that their absence from the work site would not have a detrimental effect upon the job at hand and that the supervisor is properly notified. Any adverse material, with the exception of records of criminal convictions, which the employee has not had opportunity to receive prior to placement in the personnel file, shall be removed from said personnel file. The employee's union representative shall have the right, with written consent of the employee, to inspect the employee's personnel file at a reasonable time. If the representative is an employee of the District, the absence for such purpose shall not have a detrimental effect upon the job at hand and the employee shall properly notify his/her supervisor.

- 2. Adverse or derogatory material will remain part of the personnel file until such time as the college or division issuing it requests its removal. Such material which has been placed in the personnel file may be removed from the file at the written request of the employee no earlier than three (3) years from the date it was issued. The material removed will be maintained separately from any personnel file under the following conditions:
 - a. The material shall be kept in the Employer Employee Relations Office.
 - b. Such material may not be used by the District in any proceedings which affects the status of the employee.
 - c. Such material may only be viewed by the Office of the Chancellor, the Office of the Sr. Vice Chancellor, Sr. Associate Vice Chancellor of Human Resources, Associate Vice Chancellor of Employer Employee Relations, the Office of General Counsel and the Office of Employer Employee Relations. Notwithstanding the foregoing limitation, the material may be utilized by the District in legal proceedings in defense of the District or in compliance with a legal court order.

ARTICLE 23 TOOLS

- A. The cost of the purchase, lease, or rental of tools required by the District shall be borne by the District. The aforementioned articles shall be retained as property of the District and shall be surrendered upon demand.
- B. If tools brought to the work site, under the conditions described under Board Rule 101500 and Personnel Guide B580, are lost, stolen, or damaged, the District shall be responsible for their repair or replacement in accordance with the provision of that Board Rule and Personnel Guide.
- C. All Crafts Unit employees shall have an individual mail box, in-box, tray, or other designated place at their primary work location to receive work orders, correspondence, notices, fliers, newsletters and memos.

ARTICLE 24 LAYOFF AND FURLOUGH

A. Effects of Layoff

- <u>Definition</u>. A layoff is a separation from regular service because of lack of work or lack of funds, or because the position has been abolished or reclassified.
- 2. <u>Vacation Pay</u>. Bargaining Unit employees will be paid for accumulated hours. Payment will be made no later than the payday for the pay period following the layoff.
- 3. <u>Health and Welfare</u>. Hospital/medical, dental, vision care and life insurance coverage shall be maintained at existing levels according to the following schedule:

Years of Service	Continuation After Layoff
1 - 5	2 months
6 - 10	4 months
11 or more	6 months

- 4. <u>Severance Pay.</u> Every employee laid off and not reemployed by the District in a regular capacity shall receive a severance grant equal to <u>fifty dollars (\$50) per total years of regular service with the District one week's pay per year of service, up to ten (10) weeks' pay.</u>
- 5. <u>Layoff and Reemployment Procedures.</u> Layoff and reemployment procedures shall be in compliance with Education Code Sections 88015, 88017, 88117, and 88127; and in accordance with applicable rules and regulations established pursuant to such sections.

B. Effects of Furlough

- 4. <u>Definition.</u> A furlough is a specific period of time in unpaid status within the employee's assignment basis with a definite return date to the same position in the same classification at the same location and under the same working conditions.
- 5. <u>Vacation Pay</u>. Furloughed employees shall not be permitted to receive payment for accumulated vacation hours.
- 6. <u>Health and Welfare.</u> All benefits will continue as though in paid status.
- 7. <u>Benefits for Employees on Furlough</u>. Employees on furlough shall continue to accrue all rights/benefits and privileges as if they were on paid status as provided by law which shall include, but not necessarily be limited to:
 - a. Continuation of health and welfare benefits as mentioned in B.3. above.
 - b. Vacation earning.
 - c. Seniority for the purpose of:
 - (1) Step advance.

- (2) Probationary period.
- (3) Promotional examinations.
- 8. <u>Vacation Credits for Employees on Furlough</u>. Employees furloughed during any fiscal year will receive vacation credit in the subsequent fiscal year on an hour-for-hour basis; for every hour furloughed the employee will receive one (1) hour of vacation credit on July 1 of the subsequent fiscal year.

ARTICLE 25 UNIT WORK

- A. Unit work, including closely related emerging technologies, is defined as work described by the duties of Crafts Unit classifications (Appendix A) found in the class specifications developed by the Los Angeles Community College District Personnel Commission.
- B Unit work paid by the District at District sites must be performed by journey level craftspeople at wages agreed to in this agreement or higher.
- C. Community volunteer projects that entail unit work shall be supervised by a journeyman or higher level from the appropriate craft or the Facilities Manager.
- D. When disputes arise regarding the assignment of unit work, the District and the Council agree to meet, confer and consult, in a good faith effort at reaching agreement, to resolve the issue.

ARTICLE 26 WORK ENVIRONMENT

A. District Compliance

The District will conform to State and Federal law and guidelines governing the use of video display terminals and shall consider and review potential health problems associated with prolonged and intense use of video display terminals.

B. Video Display Terminals

- 1. <u>Definitions</u>. A VDT operator shall be defined as an employee who works twenty (20) hours per week (ten [10] hours for VDT glasses eligibility) or more at a VDT terminal on tasks including, but not limited to, inputting data or programming computers. Such work is differentiated from casual use of VDT terminals for inquiry purposes.
 - "VDT user" shall mean all others who use VDTs and are not included in the above definition.

2. <u>Ergonomics.</u> (The Design of a Safe and Healthful Work Environment). The purchase or lease of VDTs and associated equipment and its installation, use and maintenance shall conform to the following ergonomic guidelines:

a. Lighting

- (1) The VDT workstation shall be located perpendicular to and away from windows, and between rows of lights, to avoid excessive glare. Where such an arrangement is not possible, windows shall be fitted with blinds or drapes.
- (2) Whenever possible, the work area shall be painted with a low-reflective color.
- (3) The lighting in the work area shall be from indirect or recessed sources, with the exception of an adjustable task light; the task light shall be made available to operators who request it.

b. Glare

- (1) The luminance of VDT characters against their background shall be of a high contrast ratio, so that the characters are easily distinguishable, such as is found in screens with yellow or light green characters on a dark green background.
- (2) If screen color and adjustable lighting are unable to reduce screen glare, a nonglare screen overlay shall be fitted on the VDT.

c. Keyboard and Screen

- (1) The Keyboard shall be adjustable and detachable.
- (2) The screen shall be adjustable horizontally and vertically to fit the operator's plane of vision, with the top of the screen being about eye level when the operator is sitting at the terminal.
- (3) The screen shall be adjustable for brightness and contrast.
- (4) The minimum dot matrix composition for screen characters shall be five x seven (5 X 7) pixels.

d. Printer

Excessive printer noise (defined as an average of sixty-five [65] DB or above measured over an eight [8] hour shift) at the regular work station of the two (2) employees nearest the source, shall be reduced by a combination of distance and/or noise reducing techniques, such as noise reducing cover or shield, carpeting, and sound absorbing ceilings and walls. Nevertheless, printers that produce eighty (80) db or more shall be in a separate room.

e. Chair and Desk

- (1) The chair shall be adjustable for seat height, backrest height, and backrest angle. The chair shall be adjustable by the user while the chair is in an upright position without the use of tools. The chair backrest shall provide correct lumbar support. The chair base shall have five (5) prongs with casters. Chairs with optional armrests shall be provided at the request of the employee. Chair seat, backrest, and armrests shall be made of moisture absorbing material.
- (2) Either by way of adjustable work surface (i.e. computer table, desktop, etc.) or appropriate accessory, the screen and keyboard must be able to be situated at different levels.
- (3) There shall be an adequate work surface large enough to accommodate a document holder adjustable for height, distance and angle.
- (4) The leg space under the table shall be free from obstructions.
- (5) A glare-inhibiting matte desk.
- (6) Footrests and wrist rests shall be available.

f. Maintenance and Monitoring

- (1) Color monitors with screens measuring more than fourteen (14) inches diagonally shall be inspected annually for excess x-ray emission. Regulation of CRT voltage shall be within the specifications of the manufacturer.
- (2) As necessary, each VDT shall be maintained by qualified personnel, and shall be checked for flicker, clarity of image, size of image, contrast, brightness and adjustability. Equipment which cannot maintain proper adjustment shall be replaced.
- (3) If an employee discovers a problem with a VDT or accessory, he or she shall report it immediately. The necessary repairs and/or adjustments shall be made to correct the problem in a timely manner.
- (4) Maintenance records for VDTs and associated equipment shall be maintained by the supervisor or manager responsible for the equipment.
- (5) Indoor temperature in the workplace shall be maintained at not less than approximately sixty-five (65) degrees Fahrenheit. Adequate ventilation shall be provided.
- 3. Work Breaks. Every employee actively working at a VDT terminal shall be required to take a fifteen (15) minute work break every hour away from the terminal to accomplish other work. Such breaks shall be in addition to regularly scheduled rest breaks. Employees shall not be required to operate VDT equipment fifteen (15) minutes before the end of his/her shift.

4. Eye Examinations. Operators and users shall have their eyes examined within two (2) months of being assigned to such a position. The examination shall be done by an optometrist or ophthalmologist covered by the District's hospital/medical or vision care insurance. All operators shall have their eyes examined annually thereafter. In addition to routine optical testing, the examination shall include tests for visual field acuity, color vision, cataracts, and accommodation. Operators shall inform the attending physician that they are VDT operators and that the above conditions must be tested for.

Operators required by an optometrist or ophthalmologist to have corrective lenses required specifically and exclusively for VDT use shall be covered by the VSP/VDT plan for lenses, frames (least expensive), and basic treatment for the initial prescription and each time the prescription changes (frames to be replaced when they are no longer serviceable). If an operator is required by an optometrist or ophthalmologist to have an eye examination more frequently than once a year, the cost of the additional examination(s) shall be covered by the plan. Lenses and frames not required exclusively for VDT use shall be paid for by the operator who may utilize the benefits available from the District's hospital/medical and/or vision care insurance plans.

- 5. <u>Pregnancy and Disability</u>. Research into the areas of radio frequency and other types of radiation has not yet yielded final conclusions regarding the effects of radiation on employees who are pregnant or who suffer from certain disabilities or diseases.
 - a. At their request, pregnant employees shall be reassigned from duties involving VDTs, shall be moved from the vicinity of VDTs, or shall remain in their positions and shall be relieved of their VDT duties, for the term of the pregnancy. At the conclusion of the pregnancy, the employee shall have the right to return to the position from which she was last reassigned. If the employee does not return immediately after the pregnancy, return rights shall be in accordance with the return rights granted for the specific type of leave she is on.
 - b. Disabled employees shall be reassigned from VDT duties or shall be moved from the vicinity of VDTs, or shall remain in their position and shall be relieved of VDT duties, upon the recommendation of their physician for the period of time recommended. Upon being released by his/her physician to resume duties involving VDTs or to return to a workspace in the vicinity of VDTs, an employee shall be assigned to a position in his/her classification in accordance with the following:
 - (1) Employees returning from a reassignment of ninety (90) working days or less shall be returned to the same position from which the reassignment was made.
 - (2) Employees returning from a reassignment of from more than ninety (90) days shall be returned to a position in her classification at the location to which the employee is assigned.

- c. Temporary reassignments cited in paragraphs 5.a. and 5.b. (1) and 5.b. (2) shall be without loss of paid benefits.
- 6. <u>Training and Education</u>. The District shall develop and distribute a written guide for the safe and healthful operation of VDTs and associated equipment. The guide shall include, but is not limited to, instructions on relaxation exercises for visual and musculoskeletal strain, the proper use of footrests and wrist rests, proper posture and other beneficial work habits. As new information becomes available, it shall be incorporated into this guide.

The District shall sponsor workshops regarding the safe and healthful use of VDTs and associated equipment periodically. Attendance at workshops for newly assigned VDT operators shall be mandatory.

With regard to VDTs and other associated microelectronic technology, the following training opportunities shall be made available:

- a. VDT operators and users shall be trained on the normal use of VDTs and associated equipment and its safe and healthful operation. Such training shall be made available through formal classes, in-service training, on-the-job training, and/or training provided by manufacturers and vendors.
- b. All employees shall be provided training by the District in new office technology that they are required to use and operate. Employees are also encouraged to obtain training in new office technology as it is introduced in an office or operational unit; the District shall make every reasonable effort to make such training available to those who desire it. When the District requires an employee to be trained on new hardware or software, the cost of the training shall be borne by the District, and appropriate released time shall be granted to the employee.

7. New Technology and Job Security

No employee shall be laid off or demoted as a consequence of the introduction of microelectronic technology (hardware or software); employees shall be required to participate in training on such technology as directed by the District to obtain or maintain an acceptable level of proficiency in the new technology. To the extent possible, affected employees shall be involved in the selection and implementation of technological changes.

8. Implementation

- a. The purchase and installation of new microelectronic equipment, not intended to replace existing equipment, shall be in accordance with the guidelines contained in this article.
- b. As existing equipment is replaced, the replacement of such equipment shall conform to the guidelines contained in this Article.

- c. First priority shall be given to upgrading the equipment and work environment of VDT operators as defined to conform to the guidelines contained in this Article; second priority shall be given to those defined as VDT users. Replacement equipment shall be provided to VDT users according to the approximate number of hours the user works at a VDT, with those users working at the equipment the greatest number of hours receiving replacements first. Other equipment shall be replaced with equipment which meets the guidelines set forth in this Article as it becomes necessary to replace such equipment; the work environment shall be improved as necessary.
- d. VDTs and associated equipment and/or accessories which do not presently meet the guidelines in this Article shall be brought up to the guideline standards within one (1) year from the date of this Agreement.
- e. Whenever VDT equipment and/or accessories are determined to be faulty and cannot be adjusted or repaired, they shall be replaced immediately with equipment which meets the standards contained herein. No employee shall be required to use, operate or be exposed to unsafe equipment or accessories

EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT In witness whereof, the parties execute this Agreement on the fifth day of______. LOS ANGELES COMMUNITY LOS ANGELES/ORANGE COUNTIES COLLEGE DISTRICT **BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION** TRADES COUNCIL $By_{\underline{}}$ $By_{\underline{}}$ Miguel Santiago Scott Svonkin, President Robbie HunterRon Miller **Board of Trustees** Los Angeles/Orange Counties **Building and Construction Trades** Council By_ Daniel J. LaVista, Chancellor Jim Adams Francisco C. Rodriguez **Chief Negotiator** By_ By_ Kenneth Takeda, Chief Negotiator Carpenters Local Union #409 Vice President, Administrative Services West Los Angeles College Electricians Local Union #11 By_ $By_{\underline{}}$ Electricians Local Union #45 $By_{\underline{}}$ Painters District Council #36 By_ Plumbers Local Union #78 $By_{\underline{}}$ Steamfitters Local #250

APPENDIX A CRAFTS UNIT

Crafts Classes

Carpenter

Electrician

Heating and Air Conditioning Technician

Lead Carpenter

Lead Electrician

Lead Heating and Air Conditioning Technician

Lead Painter

Lead Plumber

Locksmith

Machinist

Maintenance Planner and Scheduler Construction & Maintenance Planner and Scheduler

Painter

Plasterer

Plumber

Power Equipment Mechanic

Electronics Classes

Computer Technician

Electronics Technician

Lead Technician, Electronics & Computer Technology Utility Systems and Controls Specialist

Stage Classes

Costume Maker

Performing Arts Technician

Studio Classes

Broadcast Engineer Television/Cinema Engineer

Projectionist

Sound Engineer

APPENDIX B PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM						
NAME:	EMPLOYEE NUMBER:					
CLASSIFICATION: DIVISION OR COLLEGE:			COLLEGE:			
EVALUATION PERIOD:	N PERIOD: STATUS:			□ PROBATIONARY □ PERMANENT		
REVIEWED JOB CLASSIFICATION DESCRIPTION DURING EVALUATION CONT	FERENC	E?		□ YES □ NO		
RATINGS: A—EXCEEDS WORK PERFORMANCE STANDARI B—MEETS WORK PERFORMANCE STANDARI C—NEEDS IMPROVEMENT						
PERFORMANCE STANDARDS	* A	В	* C	COMMENTS (Site Specific Suggestions or Examples)		
QUALITY OF WORK: Employee demonstrates job knowledge and is accurate, neat, well organized, and thorough.				(2000)		
2. QUANTITY OF WORK: Employee is productive and meets reasonable standards						
3. WORK HABITS: Employee shows good daily attendance, is punctual, orderly, complies with rules, regulations and instructions and works without immediate supervision.						
4. PERSONAL QUALITIES : Employee uses good judgment, shows nitiative, is professional in manner and demeanor and adapts to						
emergency and new situations. 5. RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHERS: Employee works effectively and courteously with fellow employees, students and the public.						
 SUPERVISORY QUALITIES (if applicable): Employee exhibits eadership, impartiality and fairness in making decisions. Shows good udgment in assigning work and communicates effectively. 						
Assignments are completed in an effective and timely manner. 7. OTHER FACTORS NOT LISTED ABOVE (Attach additional sheets if necessary)						
8. OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING *A-consider Notice of Outstanding Performance) *C-consider Notice of Unsatisfactory Performance)				OVERALL ASSESSMENT		
Classification of Position: Do the primary duties of the employee fall with uties and responsibilities considered inappropriate to the class.	hin his/	her ass	igned cl	lass? If "NO", attach a statement listing		
Supervisor: ☐ yes ☐ no	Er	nployee	e:	□ yes □ no		
upervisor's signature				Date		
ly signature is an acknowledgment that I have seen and discussed this evaluation waluation. I understand that I have the right to respond to any derogatory evaluation						
mployee's signature				Date		
ignature of next level of authority				Date		
lice President's signature				Date		

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PREPARING PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORMS

An Evaluation Shall be Completed for:

Each regular classified employee who is not serving in an initial probationary period. In the event an employee has worked for more than one supervisor during the previous period, a separate evaluation shall be completed by each supervisor for whom the employee has worked more than 120 working days.

2. The Person Completing the Evaluation:

The employee's shall be evaluated by the supervisor who is immediately responsible for the work of the employee. The supervisor is defined as the person who either oversees, reviews, or checks the daily work of the employee or is the one who is most closely acquainted with the employee's work performance. In the event an employee has worked for more than one supervisor during the reporting period, a separate form should be completed by each supervisor under whom the employee has worked.

3. Before Making the Evaluation, the Supervisor is requested to:

Verify that the name, employee number, class title, name of Division or College and reporting period dates for each employee are correct.

4. An Employee's Work Performance Shall be Evaluated by:

A check mark ($\sqrt{}$) should be placed in the appropriate box ("Below Work Performance Standards" or Meets or Exceeds Work Performance Standards) opposite the factor being reported. In addition, the supervisor should state in the "Comments" space the suggestions he/she gave to the employee on how to improve his/her work performance if below standards, or why the employee's performance fails to meet or exceeds the standards.

5. The Supervisor May:

Add factors which he/she considers pertinent to the evaluation and record suggestions made to the employee that will aid him/her in improving his/her work or make other pertinent comments.

6. The Supervisor Shall:

A. Hold a conference with each employee for whom an evaluation is completed.

Note: The form may be completed at the time of the conference, if the supervisor so wishes.

- B. Explain to each employee:
 - The reasons for performance evaluation shall be given by the evaluator.
 - The evaluator shall explain the kind of work performance expected.
 - The evaluator shall give the reasons for the evaluation given and any negative evaluation or comments shall include specific recommendations for improvements and provisions for assisting the employee in implementing any recommendations made, and
 - The evaluator and the evaluee may discuss any questions that the evaluee has concerning his/her job and/or the responsibilities and duties assigned.
 - If the employee feels that the evaluation is improper, he/she may go to the supervisor's immediate superior to resolve differences. No regular employee shall be denied this privilege.
- C. Sign the performance evaluation form and obtain the signature of the employee.
- Submit the completed form to his/her immediate supervisor for review and signature.
- E. Retain the triplicate copy of the performance evaluation form for the campus personnel file.
- F. Give the employee the duplicate copy of the completed form. (If the employee is not available, the supervisor will send a copy of the form by certified mail to him/her at his/her last known address.)
- G. Send the original copy to District Human Resources Division to be placed in the employee's personnel file.

7. Additional Forms Which May be Used by the Supervisor:

- A. A notice of outstanding work performance is available to provide a record of communication for outstanding work performance in regular, day-to-day activities or in an unusually difficult and/or emergency situation. A notice of outstanding work performance may be completed and filed at any time considered appropriate by the employee's supervisor.
- B. A notice of unsatisfactory service is available to:
 - Provide a written record of an employee's unsatisfactory service.
 - 2. Provide a written confirmation that the employee has been told of his/her unsatisfactory service.
 - 3. Prepare for further disciplinary action, such as suspension, demotion, or dismissal.
 - This notice of unsatisfactory service is given to the employee whenever his/her services are unsatisfactory.
- 8. If additional comments pertaining to the employee's performances are entered on the form subsequent to the evaluation conference, the employee must be advised of such comments.

DEFINITION OF COLUMNS

- a. Exceeds Work Performance Standards: A check in this column indicates that the employee's work is better than satisfactory. If the employee's work is truly exceptional and worthy of special notice and commendation, a notice of outstanding work performance should also be used.
- b. Meets Work Performance Standards: A check in this column indicates that the employee's work is satisfactory.
- c. Below Work Performance Standards: Persons evaluated in this category usually require additional training and closer supervision in order to meet fully the established work standards. The employee should understand that his/her work is not considered unsatisfactory, but that additional effort on his/her part, along with more help on the part of his/her supervisor, will probably be required to bring his/her performance to a completely acceptable and satisfactory level. Continued failure to show improvement may lead to preparation of a notice of unsatisfactory service.

APPENDIX C SUMMARY OF DUE PROCESS

Performance Evaluation (Probationary)

- 1. Employees may rebut "Below Work Performance Standards" marks by submitting a written response to the Human Resources Division which will be attached to the Evaluation.
- 2. Employee may not appeal.

Performance Evaluation (Permanent)

- 1. Employee may rebut "Below Work Performance Standards" marks by submitting a written response to the Human Resources Division that will be attached to the Evaluation.
- 2. Employee may file a grievance for one (1) or more "Below Work Performance Standards" marks. Grievance may proceed through Third Step Only (See Performance Evaluation Procedure, Article 15.E.1.)

Notice of Unsatisfactory Service

- 1. Employees may rebut Notice by submitting a written response to the Human Resources Division which will be attached to the Notice.
- 2. Employees may file a grievance (See Performance Evaluation Procedure Article 15.E.1.)

Suspension, Demotion, Dismissal

- 1. Employee may not grieve Notice of Unsatisfactory Service which relates to a recommendation for a suspension, demotion or dismissal (See Performance Evaluation Procedure, Article 15.E.1.)
- 2. Permanent employees may appeal a suspension, demotion or dismissal to the administrator empowered to reverse the recommendation. ("Skelly Rights" See Personnel Guide B466, B477, and B479).
- 3. Permanent employees may appeal suspension, demotion or dismissal to the Personnel Commission after the Board of Trustees has taken action. Probationary employees may not appeal (See Personnel Commission Rule 735).

APPENDIX D SALARY RATES AS OF JULY 1, 2011 2014

Crafts Classes			Semi-Mo	nthly Rate		
Carpenter			בכ	62.25 2959.	74	
Electrician				02.23 2939. 15.42 3231.		
Heating and Air Conditioning Techn	ician			87.63 3308.		
Lead Carpenter	iiciaii			74.58 3294.		
Lead Electrician			3357.33 3596.58			
Lead Heating and Air Conditioning	Technician			36.50 3682.		
Lead Painter	1 CCIIIICIAII		2864.04 3068.49			
Lead Plumber				32.20 3785.		
Locksmith				62.25 2959.		
Machinist				11.89 3119.		
Painter				72.59 72.59		
Plasterer				72.57 2757. 24.07 3132.		
Plumber				73.76 3400.		
1 14111001			31	, 3, 10 <u>3+00.</u>	.03	
Monthly Rate*	Level 01	Level 02	Level 03	Level 04	Level 05	
Power Equipment Mechanic	3794.77	4003.48	4223.67	4455.97	4701.05	
	4066.20	4289.84	4525.78	4774.70	5037.30	
Maintenance Planner and Scheduler	4963.70	5236.71	5524.73	5828.59	6149.16	
Construction and Maintenance						
Planner and Schedule	5318.38	5610.88	5919.48	6245.06	6588.52	
<u>Utility Systems and</u>						
Controls Specialist	6273.92	6618.98	6983.02	7367.08	7772.28	
Electronics Classes						
Electronics Classes						
Computer Technician	4389.32	4630.73	4885.42	5154.12	5437.60	
Court was a comment	4703.64	4962.34	5235.28	5523.22	5827.00	
Electronics Technician	4389.32	4630.73	4885.42	5154.12	5437.60	
	4703.64	4962.34	5235.28	5523.22	5827.00	
Lead Technician, Electronics						
& Computer Technology	4885.42	5154.12	5437.60	5736.67	6052.18	
Stage Classes						
Costume Maker (C and G basis)	2920.60	3081.24	3250.71	3429.49	3618.12	
COSTUTIO IVIANCI (C and G basis)	3129.76	3301.24	3483.50	3675.08	3877.22	
Costume Maker	3129.70 3176.16	3350.85	3535.14	3729.58	3934.70	
Costume Maker	3403.60	3590.80	3788.30	3996.66	4216.48	
	J 4 UJ.UU	2270.00	3/00.30	2220.00	4210.48	

Performing Arts Technician	3878.89	4092.23	4317.30	4554.76	4805.27
Terrorining Arts Technician	4156.66	4385.28	4626.48	4880.94	5149.38
	4130.00	7303.20	4020.40	7000.77	3147.30
Studio Classes					
Broadcast Engineer	5437.60	5736.67	6052.18	6385.05	6736.23
Television/Cinema Engineer	5827.00	6147.48	6485.60	6842.30	7218.62
Projectionist	4574.17	4825.75	5091.16	5371.18	5666.59
3	4901.74	5171.32	5455.76	5755.82	6072.38
Projectionist (G basis)	4206.13	4437.47	4681.53	4939.01	5210.66
•	4507.34	4755.24	5016.78	5292.70	5583.80
Sound Engineer	4885.42	5154.12	5437.60	5736.67	6052.18
	5235.28	5523.22	5827.00	6147.48	6485.60
Sound Engineer (G basis)	4492.34	4739.42	5000.09	5275.09	5565.22
<i>E</i> (1 1 1 1 1 1)	4814.04	5078.82	5358.16	5652.86	5963.76
Above rates are A Basis except where noted					

^{*}Each Salary Warrant for will be half the amount of the monthly rate listed above, payable in 2 semi-monthly pay checks.

APPENDIX E DOMESTIC PARTNER POLICY FOR HEALTH INSURANCE

In order to qualify for domestic partner coverage under the Health Benefits Program, an active employee or retiree must comply with the following:

- The employee/retiree, and his/her domestic partner, must satisfy the eligibility requirements of a
 domestic partnership established by the State of California, register with the State of California as
 a domestic partnership and present proof of such registration, along with proof of the following
 documentation to the Health Insurance Section, Business Services Division:
 - a. Sharing a common residence, which may include proof by copies of driver's licenses or passports showing the same address?
 - b. Joint responsibility for each other's basic living expenses incurred during the domestic partnership which shall mean the cost of food, shelter, medical care, clothing and any other expenses supporting daily living (the monetary contribution made by each person toward the expenses need not be in equal shares), which may include proof by any one of the following:
 - i. common ownership of a motor vehicle;
 - ii. joint bank account;
 - iii. joint credit card;
 - iv. joint wills;
 - v. joint utility bills;
 - vi. durable power of attorney for health care;
 - vii. joint safety deposit box.
 - c. Are both at least 18 years of age, which may include proof by any one of the following:
 - Driver's licenses or passports showing the date of birth; OR
 - ii. Birth certificates.
 - d. Are both members of the same sex or one/or both is/are over the age of 62 and meet the eligibility criteria under Title II of the Social Security Act as defined in 42 U.S.C. Section 402(a) for old-age insurance benefits or Title XVI of the Social Security Act as defined in 42 U.S.C. Section 1381 for aged individuals, which may include proof by any one of the following:
 - Driver's licenses or passports showing the sex and date of birth;
 OR
 - ii. Birth certificates.

All domestic partnerships currently registered with the District and meeting the eligibility requirements in effect under the 2002-2005 Agreement will be grandfathered in under those requirements.

Application for domestic partner coverage must include all of the plans in which the employee/retiree is presently enrolled; that is, the employee/retiree may not choose to enroll the domestic partner under only the dental but not medical and vision, etc.

- 3. A dependent child of a domestic partner is eligible for coverage only if the child meets the conditions of Article 27IA, 2 or IIIC, 1 and 2, and one of the following is true:
 - **a.** the child becomes a legally adopted child of the employee
 - **b.** the employee retains legal guardianship of such child
 - **c.** the domestic partner is the natural or adoptive parent or legal guardian of the child, and the employee shows proof that such child is not otherwise eligible for health benefits.*

Health benefits means health insurance coverage under an employer-sponsored plan or other health insurance coverage partially or fully paid by a party other than the employee or domestic partner.

4. Application for Coverage:

- a. Employees who meet the requirements above and all other requirements herein on the original effective date of these Regulations will have 31 calendar days to make application for domestic partner coverage following registration, and providing proof of such registration, of domestic partnership with the State of California. If application is not made within this time, the employee will have to wait for the next open enrollment period to apply for coverage.
- **b.** New employees hired after the original effective date of these Regulations who meet the requirements on their date of eligibility may apply for domestic partner coverage.
- **c.** In the event of late enrollment the employee will not be required to wait until the next open enrollment period IF the employee can demonstrate that the late application is due to loss of coverage for the domestic partner in a different benefit plan.

5. Change in Domestic Partnership:

- **a.** Terminations of domestic partnerships must comply with State regulations, including but not limited to Family Code, Section 299(a).
- b. In the event of the termination of the domestic partnership, the employee must show proof of having filed the Notice of Termination of Domestic Partnership with the California Secretary of State or, if applicable, providing proof of dissolution of domestic partnership through the Superior Court.
- c. The employee must notify the Health Insurance Section in writing within 31 calendar days of any change in the status of a domestic partner relationship as attested to in the Declaration of Domestic Partnership, such as termination of the relationship, change of circumstances, death of the domestic partner, marriage to the domestic partner or any other cause, and the employee must file a Declaration of Termination of Domestic Partnership with the Health Insurance Section for adjustment in coverage.
- 6. COBRA Coverage: Domestic partners are not considered "qualified beneficiaries" under federal COBRA regulations but are eligible for COBRA-like continuation coverage if offered and provided by the insurance carrier(s), and under the terms and conditions of the insurance carrier(s). As such, the District retains the right to modify or terminate this continuation of coverage benefit at any time.

Form: Affidavit of Domestic Partnership

Form: Declaration of Termination of Domestic Partnership

(stored as PDF files; you need Acrobat Reader to access the forms; if you do not have Acrobat Reader, click this icon to download it)

Access the Affidavit of Domestic Partnership
Access the Declaration of Termination

APPENDIX F GRIEVANCE FORM		
INSTRUCTIONS: Sections 1 through 9 must be One copy of this form must be submitted to the procedure for your respective unit must be followed:	ne respondent. The appropriate gr	
1. Grievant: (Full Name):	2. Location:	
3. Job Title (Position) 4. Employee No.	5. Name (s) of Representative	es, if any
6. Office or Department	Name(s)	
	Organization	
GR 1. Step 1 Authority	RIEVANCE	
Name	Job Title	
2. Clearly and concisely state your grieve	ance: (attach additional sheets if r	necessary.)
3. Clearly and concisely state your remed	dy: (attach additional sheets if nec	cessary.)
	Signature of Grievant	Date
RESPONDENT: Clearly and concisely state the send a copy with this form to the Human Research Relations.		

Formatted: Border: Top: (Single solid line, Auto, 0.5 pt Line width), Bottom: (Single solid line, Auto, 0.5 pt Line width)

APPENDIX G PROCESS FOR DETERMINING SALARY AUGMENTATION

- A. Representatives from the District and the Council will meet on or about June 30th of each year (2014, 2015 and 2016) to agree on the projected dollar amount necessary to secure a 10% reserve. Based on the Governor's final budget, the total projected dollar amount necessary to secure a 10% reserve will be the result of the total projected revenue (2015, 2016, 2017) multiplied by 10%.
- B. If the projected ending balance calculated is equal to or greater than the projected level of reserve, the three-part salary augmentation formula will be implemented without adjustment to the elements of the formula.

For each year of the agreement:

- State funded COLA will be a pass-through for all elements on the Council's salary schedule. Elements on the union salary schedule will be adjusted retroactively effective July 1st to reflect this increase.
- 2. The District will identify funds to allocate an additional 2% increase to all elements of the Council's salary schedule.
- 3. The District will set aside the Council's proportionate share of 30% of any new and ongoing computed State General Revenue above the state funded base revenue and COLA. This amount will be applied to all elements of the Council's salary schedule. These increases will be adjusted retroactively effective July 1st to reflect this increase.
- C. If the projected ending balance in the current year is less than 10% of the projected revenue of the next year, the salary augmentation will be calculated based on the Council's proportionate share as follows:
- 1. If there is new and ongoing computed State General Revenue above the state funded base revenue and COLA, it will be used to bring the District reserve up to 10% of the projected total revenue (2014-15, 2015-16, 2016-17). Thirty percent (30%) of the remainder of the new and ongoing computed State General Revenue above the state funded base revenue will be distributed according to the formula in Article 17.
- 2. If there is no new and ongoing computed State General Revenue above the state funded base revenue and COLA, then monies from the District's 2% contribution will be used to bring the reserve up to 10% of the projected total revenue (2014-15, 2015-16, 2016-17). Any remaining monies from the District's 2% contribution will be distributed according to the formula in Article 17.
- 3. In the event that the 10% of total revenue is not attained in Steps C1 and C2 then COLA will be used to bring the general fund ending balance up to 10% of the projected total revenue (2014-15, 2015-16, 2016-17). Any monies remaining from state funded COLA will be distributed according to the formula in Article 17.

¹For the purpose of this Agreement, the phrase, "proportionate share" is defined as that portion of the unrestricted general fund total salaries applied to the Council's salaries.

²Excludes all Restricted Funds, categorical funds and all other one-time funds.

APPENDIX H MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDING (MOUS)

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) No. 1

Rest Periods Between Variable Daily Work Assignments

As part of the 2014-2017 Agreement between the Los Angeles Community College District and the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council, the parties agree to meet to discuss implementing the following change to Article 10, paragraph A of the Agreement:

Any LACCD stage classification employee represented by the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council, AFL-CIO who is required to work a variable shift shall be allowed at least twelve (12) hours of rest between the completion of any one (1) day assignment (including any overtime hours) and the beginning of the next day's assignment. Any person receiving less than 12 hours rest will be compensated at the rate of time-and-one-half for each hour or fraction of an hour by which such 12-hour rest period is reduced. The payments will be made by compensated time off or cash to a maximum of eight (8) hours.

The parties agree to form a task force, composed of an equal number of members appointed by the District and the Council, to discuss the implementation of the change described in this MOU, with the goal of implementation by June 30, 2017.

<u>Date</u>	
For the Council:	For the District:
Ron Miller, Executive Secretary	Francisco C. Rodriguez, Chancello

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) NO. 2

Statement of Intent to Change Restriction on Use of Compensatory Time Off After Fiscal Year-End

This MOU refers to Article 10 ("Hours and Overtime"), paragraph B ("Overtime"), subparagraph 1.

Regarding the requirement that compensatory time off (CTO) be taken by the employee before the end of the fiscal year in which the overtime was worked, the District and the Council mutually desire to change this requirement as follows:

If an employee and his/her supervisor agree that the employee cannot fully exhaust his/her CTO balance by the end of the fiscal year, then they may agree to the following alternative procedure:

- 1. An employee's CTO balance not to exceed 240 hours may be carried forward beyond the fiscal year close of June 30, but not beyond the following August 31 or first day of fall semester, whichever date is earlier. Any balance carried forward must be used by that date or it will be paid to the employee in cash within athe four subsequent payroll periods.
- 2. All other provisions of Article 10, paragraph B, subparagraph 1, shall remain applicable to CTO balances carried forward past June 30.

The District and the Council agree, during the term of this Agreement, to work in good faith towards implementing this alternative procedure, including, but not limited to, consulting the change through appropriate administrative, governance and bargaining channels and modifying the District's enterprise HR/payroll system to permit the carryover of CTO balances as described above.

<u>Date</u>	
For the Council:	For the District:
Don Millon Evacutiva Coaratemy	Empaires C. Padriguez, Changeller

Formatted: Body Text 2

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) No. 3

Formation of a Joint Labor/Management Task Force To discuss Apprenticeship Programs for Building and Construction Trades Employees of the LACCD

As part of the 2011-2014-2017 Tentative Agreement between the Los Angeles Community College District and the Los Angeles/Orange Counties Building and Construction Trades Council, the parties agree to form a Joint Labor/Management Task Force for the purpose of exploring a building and construction trades Joint Labor/Management apprenticeship programs for building and construction trades employees of the District.

The task force will be convened by June 20122015, with a goal of implementing anthese apprenticeship programs by June 20142017.

apprenticeship programs by June 20142017.	
The task force shall be comprised composed	of:
Members appointed by the CouncilMembers appointed by the District	
	led to explore the parameters of apprenticeship s are enrolled, expected outcomes, expected costs
The task force shall make a joint recommend	dation to the Board and the Chancellor.
Date	
For the Council:	For the District:
Jim Adams, Business Representative	Daniel J. LaVista , Chancellor
Ron Miller, Executive Secretary	Francisco C. Rodriguez

to

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) No. 4

<u>Backflow Prevention Certification Differential</u> (Plumbers and Lead Plumbers only)

- Each Plumber and Lead Plumber ("employee," as used in this paragraph O) must, by June 30, 2015 or within six months of employment, whichever is later, possess a valid backflow prevention tester certification issued by the Los Angeles County
 Department of Public Health. The certification must be renewed on or before its expiration, currently two years from date of issuance.
- 2. The District shall reimburse the employee for the following certification expenses:
 - a. Training class fees, up to the amount charged by Los Angeles Trade-Technical College, for the initial certification and all subsequent certification renewals while the employee is employed by the District; and
 - <u>b.</u> Test fee for the initial certification and all subsequent certification renewals while the employee is employed by the District.
- 3. Upon presentation to the District of a valid backflow prevention tester certification, the employee shall be eligible to receive the following certification differential:

<u>Backflow Prevention Certification Differential—Semi-Monthly Rates*</u>

<u>12-Month Employee</u>

Certification \$26.87 \$24.71

- 4. The differential shall become effective the pay period following the pay period in which the employee presents proof of the backflow prevention tester certification and shall remain in effect through the expiration of the certification, after which the differential will cease unless the employee presents proof of renewal.
- 5. An employee who does not, by June 30, 2015, obtain and present evidence to his/her supervisor of the backflow prevention certification shall be required to retake the training course every time it is offered between July 1, 2015 and June 30, 2017 until he/she passes the test and receives a certificate. An employee who does not pass the test and receive a certificate by June 30, 2017 may, at the discretion of his/her Director of College Facilities, be transferred to another District location in exchange for an employee who possesses a valid certificate. After June 30, 2017 the District will not pay training class fees and test fees for any employee who has not received the backflow prevention certification.

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.5" + Indent at: 0.75"